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Characteristics of the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2) there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions expressed in this
report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that
are fair and reasonable.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

| would like to present to the shareholders the annual
report of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2010.

During 2010, the Group spared no efforts in advancing
the three oil, gas and coal projects to a new stage,
endeavoring to reciprocate with returns to shareholders
who supported the Company over the years.

The 21% owned Oil and Gas Project in Brunei
progressed according to the 2010 work program. Two
wells were drilled in the third quarter after more than
two years of surveys, data interpretation and planning.
Both wells encountered different degrees of indications
of hydrocarbons. Both wells have been cased pending
results of studies on data acquired. These results will
determine if the reserves will be feasible for commercial
production. Additionally, 136 km® of 3D seismic survey
was performed which will provide critical information in
determining exploration well site prospects for 2011 and
2012 drilling program.

Project managers of the 89% owned Gas Project
in Central Luzon, Philippines, worked religiously
throughout 2010 and gained the approval from
Department of Energy Philippines (“DOE”) on its
workover program for well Victoria-3. Workover
construction is undergoing a bidding process and the
well will be re-entered sometime during 2011.

Though delayed by the torrential rain and flood which
hard hit Mindanao Province during the last quarter of
the year, the 64% owned Coal Mine Project in San
Miguel, Philippines, has been making progress. In
addition to fine-tuning the development and production
work program, project management has been planning
different modes of transporting coals out of the mining
area after production, including building pier facilities.
Construction of the phase-2 road is expected to
recommence at end of the first quarter 2011.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

Formation of the 60.1% owned joint venture Sinotech
Polyard Petroleum Exploration & Development Research
Institute Limited in 2009 proved to be a right pre-
position by the Group. This subsidiary benefited the
three projects by continually providing expertise and
technical advices in the areas of geophysics, geology,
seismic interpretation, drilling, exploitation engineering,
etc.

As a matter of priority, the Company had devoted
corporate resources to the above projects striving to
bring them to production stage at the earliest date. The
businesses of trading petroleum-related products went
on but had seen signs of stringent competitiveness in
the market. Group management believes the strategy of
focusing efforts and resources on the three resources
projects at this stage favors the Group as a whole in the
mid to long run.

During the year, the Group continued to keep an open
mind to project offers which will add dynamics, variety
and cash flows to the current portfolio. We seriously
considered acquiring an oil and gas project in the
Philippines but did not proceed due to timing and
other constraints. The Board will continue to consider
acquisition opportunities while persistently developing
ongoing projects.

Lastly, | sincerely express my gratitude to our Board
members for their contribution, to our shareholders for
their support and to our management and staff for their
diligence.

For and on behalf of the Board
Kuai Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBNWmRDMN

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s
turnover decreased by 79% to approximately
HK$826,000 as compared with approximately
HK$3,916,000 in 2009. The Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$66,110,000 in 2010 (2009: approximately
HK$95,157,000).

The current year loss includes (1) an impairment loss
on the Oil and Gas Project in Brunei of approximately
HK$41,136,000 as a result of increase in the capital
expenditure and (2) a reversal of impairment loss
of approximately HK$26,843,000 on the Coal Mine
Project due to increase in coal prices. The substantial
loss in 2009 mainly resulted from the impairment loss
on the Oil and Gas Project in Brunei of approximately
HK$21,571,000 and the impairment loss of
approximately HK$34,265,000 on the Coal Mine Project.

Administrative and other operating expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2010 amounted to
approximately HK$26,307,000, representing an increase
of approximately HK$8,998,000 or 52%, as comparing
with last year. The increase was mainly attributable to
increased overseas travelling expenses and staff costs
necessitated by heightened project activities.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2010
amounted to approximately HK$29,396,000 (2009:
approximately HK$25,010,000). The increase was
mainly resulted from the increased effective interest
expenses on the HK$12,000,000 convertible bond
issued in February 2009 which was outstanding for the
entire year in 2010.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBNWmRDMN

Liquidity, Financial Resources, Capital and
Gearing

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had net assets
amounted to approximately HK$622.3 million (2009:
approximately HK$488.1 million) and net current assets
amounted to approximately HK$19.8 million (2009: net
current liabilities of approximately HK$76.6 million).
The current ratio was 295.4% (2009: 13.4%). The
gearing ratio of the Group based on the net debt to the
shareholders’ equity was 55% (2009: 89%).

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in
Renminbi (“RMB”), Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), United
States Dollars (“US$”) and Philippine Pesos (“PHP”)
and its revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities and
borrowings are principally denominated in RMB, HKS,
US$ and PHP, which do not pose significant foreign
currency risk at present.

Employee Information

The Group had a total number of staff of approximately
51 (2009: approximately 50). Remuneration packages
are reviewed on a periodical basis. Bonus is awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. Besides, a share option scheme was
adopted by the Company, pursuant to which the
Directors may offer to any eligible employees (including
executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company and any of its subsidiaries,
options to subscribe for shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the share option scheme.
However, save for the share options granted prior to
the listing, no other options have been granted up
to 31 December 2010. Staff cost was approximately
HK$10.9 million for the year as compared with that of
approximately HK$7.7 million in 2009.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBNWmRDMN

Business Review and Prospects
Trading of Petroleum-related Products

During 2010, the Company generated turnover of
approximately HK$826,000 as a result of sluggish sales
of petroleum-related products.

Brunei Block M Oil and Gas Project

During 2010, the Oil and Gas Project in Brunei has
been progressing in accordance with the work program
and its budget approved by Brunei National Petroleum
Company Sdn. Bhd. Two exploration wells, the Mawar-1
and the Markisa-1, were drilled in the third quarter. Both
wells encountered hydrocarbons.

Specifically, Mawar-1 encountered up to 25 meters of
gas in the primary objective Ridan Sandstone. Additional
hydrocarbon indications were encountered below
the Main Thrust Fault near to the bottom of the well.
Markisa-1 encountered a good oil shows while drilling
through the Ridan sands from approximately 1,070 to
1,100 meters (29 meters true vertical thickness) with
preliminary wireline logs indicating a possible oil column
over this horizon. Both wells have been cased and
suspended pending ongoing studies on data acquired
from the wells. A testing of the Markisa-1 well will be
commenced in the first half of 2011 confirming the
potential of the discovery. Results of these studies will
determine the commercial significance of the zone and
the most appropriate future course of action.

The 6-month 136 km® Belait North 3D seismic survey
program was completed at year end. Results of the
survey serve to identify additional targets along the
trend for possible drilling in 2011/2012.

The operator of Block M will continue to pursue parallel
strategies on appraising the existing Belait field and
assessing the wider potential of this 3,011 km® onshore
block.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBNWmRDMN

Philippines Central Luzon Gas Project

The exploration program planned for 2010 was
progressing smoothly. The proposed workover program
for well Victoria-3 was submitted to the Department of
Energy Philippines (“DOE”) in early August 2010. After
reviewing the results of the initial evaluation over the
project and the appraisal of leads and prospect in the
block, DOE approved the program in early September
2010. The workover’s construction is undergoing a
bidding process. The Manila Office is currently in the
process of securing a workover rig to conduct the work
and it is anticipated that the Victoria-3 will be re-entered
sometime during 2011.

Philippines San Miguel Coal Mine Project

The project has progressed into the development phase.
Construction of the phase-2 road, which will extend the
vehicle-assessable road into the initial mining area, was
delayed by the torrential rain and flood which hard hit
Mindanao Province during the last quarter of the year.
Road construction is expected to recommence end of
first quarter and complete in the second quarter of 2011.
During 2010, in addition to fine-tuning the development
and production work program, project management had
been surveying for water-front properties which would
allow construction of pier facilities for loading coal
shipments.

Summary of Expenditure Incurred for Projects

A summary of expenditure incurred for the above
projects by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2010 is as follow:
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Corporate Governance Report
N 'msAiﬁ'd:

Introduction

The Company had applied the principles and complied
with the code provisions and recommended best
practices set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2010,
by establishing formal and transparent procedures to
protect and maximize the interests of shareholders,
except for the deviation described below.

Following Mr. Chan Kin Cheong’s resignation as an
independent non-executive Director on 4 May 2010,
the number of the Company’s independent non-
executive Directors and that of the members of the
Audit Committee decreased below the minimum number
as required respectively by the Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28
of the GEM Listing Rules. The deviation was rectified
when the Board announced that Mr. Wong Kon Man
Jason was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company with effect from 12 May 2010, within the
prescribed period set forth in Rules 5.06 and 5.33 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of
dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions in securities of the Company.
Upon the Company’s specific enquiry, each Director
had confirmed that during the year ended 31 December
2010, he had fully complied with the required standard
of dealings and there was no event of non-compliance.
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Corporate Governance Report
N 'msAiﬁ'd:

Board of Directors

The Board, which currently comprises 7 Directors, is
responsible for the Group’s corporate policy formulation,
business strategy planning, business development,
risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and
capital transactions, and other significant operational
and financial matters. Details of the Chairman and
the other Directors of the Group are set out in the
section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report. All Directors have given
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is in compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2)
of the GEM Listing Rules, and has three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise, except for the
deviation described below.

Throughout the year, the Company has complied with
the requirements of the code provisions set out in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices contained
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules except
that the number of the Company’s independent non-
executive Directors and that of the members of the Audit
Committee decreased below the minimum number as
required respectively by the Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of
the GEM Listing Rules, following Mr. Chan Kin Cheong’s
resignation as an independent non-executive Director
on 4 May 2010. The deviation was rectified when the
Board announced that Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee of the Company with
effect from 12 May 2010, within the prescribed period
set forth in Rules 5.06 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The Company has received from each of independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report
N 'msAiﬁ'd:

With the various experience of both the executive
Directors and the non-executive Directors and the
nature of the Group’s business, the Board considers that
the Directors have a balance of skills and experience for
the business of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
means of electronic communication at least four times a
year. At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meetings
is given to all Directors, who are all given an opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
Company Secretary assists the Directors in preparing
the agenda for the meetings, and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations regarding the meetings
are observed.

The attendance records of the individual Directors at the
Board meetings during the year are set out below:

Executive Directors:
Mr. KUAI Wei

Mr. CAO Xuejun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao
Mr. LIN Zhang

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Yanhui

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong (resigned on 4 May 2010)

Mr. WONG Kon Man Jason (appointed on 12 May 2010)
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During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the
Group, monitor financial performances and discuss
the annual and interim and quarterly results, as well
as discuss and decide on other significant matters.
Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to
management. Apart from the regular Board meetings,
the Board meets on other occasions when a Board level
decision on a particular matter is required.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of
each Board meeting by keeping detailed minutes,
including all decisions by the Board together with
concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Drafts of Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees
with all relevant information in a timely manner.
They may make further enquiries if in their opinion
it is necessary or appropriate to request for further
information. They also have unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, who
is responsible to the Board for providing Directors with
Board papers and related materials, and ensuring that
all proper Board procedures are followed and that all
applicable laws and regulations are complied with. If
considered to be necessary and appropriate by the
Directors, they may retain independent professional
advisors at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving
a substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will
be discussed through an actual meeting and will not
be dealt with by written resolutions. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be
present at meetings dealing with such conflict issues.

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, have all adopted
the applicable practices and procedures used in Board
meetings for all committee meetings.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Group is Mr. Kuai Wei and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group is Mr. Lai Chun
Liang. The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer are segregated and not performed by the same
individual to ensure segregation of duties.

The Chairman of the Group is primarily responsible for
the leadership and effective running of the Board, in
formulating the overall strategies of the Group, whereas
the Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for
the running of the Group’s business and implementation
of the Group’s strategies in achieving the overall
commercial objectives.

Non-Executive Directors

Code Provision A.4.1 provides that non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. Independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping, had
not entered into any service contract with the Company
or any member of the Company, and are not appointed
for a fixed term. For each financial year, Mr. Wang
and Mr. Pai are entitled to a bonus which is at the
Board’s discretion and determined by reference to the
Company’s results and performance for the financial
year concerned. Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
one year from 12 May 2010 which may be terminated
by either party thereto giving to the other party a prior
notice in writing of not less than 90 days. Mr. Wong is
entitled to a fixed monthly fee of HK$4,000 which was
determined with reference to market rates.

The Company’s independent non-executive Directors
are required by the Company’s Articles of Association
to retire from office by rotation at the Company’s annual
general meeting. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election.
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Remuneration of Directors

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005.
Since 12 December 2007, Mr. Chan Kin Cheong, an
independent non-executive Director, was appointed
Chairman of the Committee. He resigned on 4 May
2010, and was succeeded by Mr. Cao Xuejun, an
executive Director. Other members are Mr. Wang
Yanhui and Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping, both are independent non-
executive Directors of the Company.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee
include the determination of the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and making recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee should consider
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Upon the recommendation of Remuneration Committee,
the Board has considered and reviewed the existing
terms of employment contracts of the executive
Directors and considers that the existing terms of
employment contracts of the executive Directors are
fair and reasonable. Details of the attendance of the
meeting of the Remuneration Committee during 2010
are as follows:

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

WANG Yanhui

PAI Hsi-Ping

CHAN Kin Cheong (resigned on 4 May 2010)
CAO Xuejun (appointed on 4 May 2010)
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Nomination of Directors

No nomination committee is established by the Board.
The Board is responsible for identifying suitable
candidates for members of the Board when there
is a vacancy or an additional Director is considered
necessary. The Board will review the qualifications of
the relevant candidate for determining the suitability
to the Group on the basis of his/her qualifications,
experience and background.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include reviewing the Company’s
annual reports and quarterly financial reports and
providing advice and comments thereon to the Board.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing
and supervising the Company’s financial reporting
process and internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee comprises the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Yanhui,
Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping and Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason. The
number of the Company’s independent non-executive
Directors and that of the members of the Audit
Committee decreased below the minimum number as
required respectively by the Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of
the GEM Listing Rules, following Mr. Chan Kin Cheong’s
resignation as an independent non-executive Director
on 4 May 2010. The deviation was rectified when the
Board announced that Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee of the Company with
effect from 12 May 2010, within the prescribed period
set forth in Rules 5.06 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2010 have been reviewed by
the Audit Committee, who was of the opinion that such
statements complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Stock Exchange and legal requirements,
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year
under review. Details of the attendance of the Audit
Committee meetings are as follows:

Mr. WANG Yanhui
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping
Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong (resigned on 4 May 2010)

Mr. WONG Kon Man Jason (appointed on 12 May 2010)

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and
audited annual results for the year ended 31 December
2010 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which was of the opinion that the preparation of
such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Stock Exchange and legal requirements,
and that adequate disclosure have been made.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The Company has appointed Pan-China (H.K.) CPA
Limited as the auditors of the Group. The Board is
authorised in the annual general meeting to determine
the remuneration of the auditors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2010, a summary
of the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditors is set out below:

9|\H%$?§5(Eﬂik1,\%$2&#%WW%ZEH/J@HM
SRBREMT

HK$°000 HK$’000
BETFT JBEMF T
Types of services PR iE %A
Audit services FEZRE 390
Non-audit services FEEIZ AR 120
Total st 510

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group.
In preparing the financial statements, the general
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have
been adopted, appropriate accounting policies have
been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The
responsibilities of the external auditors are set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report to the shareholders of the
Company on pages 37 to 39 of this annual report.

Internal Control

The Board conducts reviews of the Company’s system of
internal control periodically to ensure the effectiveness
and adequacy of the internal control system. The
Company convenes meetings periodically to discuss
financial, operational and risk management controls.
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ESENEREEAEEHN

Executive Directors

Mr. KUAI Wei, aged 49, is the Chairman and executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Kuai holds a master’'s
degree in business administration from the University
of South Australia and has over 20 years of experience
in banking, electrical transmission and transformation
equipment and satellite broadcasting. Mr. Kuai has been
involved as a senior management member for strategic
planning, business development, operation and overall
management of various companies. He joined the Group
in July 2007.

Mr. CAO Xuejun, aged 65, holds a bachelor's degree
from the China University of Petroleum (formerly known
as “The Beijing Petroleum Institute”). Mr. Cao has over
40 years’ working experience in oil and gas development
projects, and participated in several large scale offshore
oil and gas field development projects. Prior to joining
the Company in December 2007, he was the President
of the Shanghai Branch of CNOCC (China) Ltd. Mr. Cao
was also a visiting scholar in Alabama State University,
United States of America. He had been the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer and engaged as a consultant
in a subsidiary of the Company since June 2007. He
resigned as Chief Executive Officer with effect from 4
June 2010, while he remains as an executive Director of
the Company.

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao, aged 53, holds a bachelor's degree
in geology from Changchun Institute of Geology, a
master’s degree in sedimentology and a PhD degree
in natural gas geochemistry from Chinese Academy
of Sciences. In 2004, he took a position of associate
chief geologist in the Research Institute of Petroleum
Exploration and Development, Qinghai Oil Field,
Chinese National Petroleum Corporation. During his 30
years’ research experience, he has been responsible
for over 20 programs and published over 30 papers. Mr.
Zhang has been appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 16 May 2009.
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Mr. LIN Zhang, aged 29, holds a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Tianjin University of Commerce. Prior
to joining the Company in November 2007, Mr. Lin
worked in the Indonesia branch of Chinaoil USA (Macao)
Company Limited, a former subsidiary of the Company,
for two years and was responsible for the petroleum
exploitation, development and related trading business.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Yanhui, aged 48, holds a master’s degree in
public administration from the Harvard University and a
doctoral degree in management from the Xi’an Jiaotong
University. He was a senior economist and also an
adjunct professor in the Xi'an Jiaotong University. Mr.
Wang is now the vice president of Shenzhen Ping An
Bank (formerly known as Shenzhen Commercial Bank).
Mr. Wang has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since December 2007.

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping, aged 53, obtained his bachelor’s
degree in international trade from National Chen-Chi
University, Taiwan. He has over 20 years’ working
experience in management and is currently a Chief
Executive Officer of a consultancy company in Taiwan.
Besides, he previously held directorship and other major
appointment in three listed public companies in Taiwan.
He is currently the Director of Taiyen Biotech Company
Limited. In addition, he was a Director of Formosa
Plastics Corporation during the period from June 2006
to March 2008 and the Chairperson of Far East Air
Transport Corporation for the period from April to May
2008. Mr. Pai has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since July 2009.
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Mr. WONG Kon Man Jason, aged 46, holds a
bachelor's degree in business administration majoring
in accounting from the University of Hawaii, U.S.A. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and has over 15 years
of experience in accounting, auditing and business
investment and is currently a Managing Director of
Fortune Capital Group Limited, a private company.
Besides, he holds directorship in private and listed
companies in Hong Kong and U.S.A. Mr. Wong has
been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director since May 2010.

Senior Management

Mr. CHENG Yun Sing, aged 77, has been appointed
as the Company Secretary of the Company since
November 2007. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and has
been practicing as a certified public accountant for more
than 38 years.

Mr. LAI Chun Liang, aged 46, joined Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd. as an Executive Vice President
in 2003. He was appointed as the Chief Operating
Officer in September 2009, and as the Chief Executive
Officer in June 2010. He holds a bachelor's degree
in electronic engineering. Prior to joining the group,
he had over 10 years’ experience in the development
of angiocarpy monitoring instrument and research on
GPS and navigation system. He has more than 10
years’ of experience in operations and management of
companies.
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Mr. STAWICKI Alfred, aged 59, joined the Company as
Senior Vice President in May 2010 and was appointed
as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company in June
2010. He holds a bachelor’s degree of science, majoring
in geology from the University of Notre Dame and a
master’s degree of business and administration from
the University of Houston. Being a U.S.A. national and
a 36-year veteran of the oil and gas industry, primarily
in the upstream sectors of exploration and production,
Mr. Stawicki began his career in 1974 with the Exxon
Corp. in Houston, and later joined Union Texas
Petroleum Corp. where he spent 18 years in positions of
increased responsibility including Development Manager
for Western U.S.A., Manager of Strategic Planning and
Exploration Manager for Union Texas Asia Corp. Other
career positions include Manager of Geosciences for
Kuwait Foreign Petroleum Exploration Company and
most recently Brunei Country Manager for TAP Energy
(Borneo) Pty Ltd. TAP Energy (Borneo) Pty Ltd. is the
operator of the Brunei Block M oil and gas project, the
major investment project of the Group. Mr. Stawicki has
extensive international experience and has held resident
positions in Calgary, Karachi, Islamabad, Dubai,
Jakarta and Brunei. He is an active member in the
American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Society
of Exploration Geophysicists, International Association
of Energy Economists, and European Association of
Geoscientists and Engineers. Mr. Stawicki heads up the
exploration and development operations and technical
management committee of the Group and is responsible
for all overseas projects undertaken by the Group.
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Mr. CHAN Francis Ping Kuen, aged 52, joined the
Company as the Group Financial Controller in August
2009. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in economics
from the University of Sydney in Australia. He is a
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and also a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan has over
twenty years of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management and previously worked for an
international accounting firm and a number of companies
listed in Hong Kong and the United States. Mr. Chan
also assumes the role of Human Resources Director of
the Group.

Ms. KWOK Eva, joined the Company in August 2010
and has been appointed as the General Counsel in
late 2010. She holds a bachelor’s degree in law and
is admitted as a Solicitor in Hong Kong SAR, England
and Australia, and has over 12 years’ legal experience.
Ms Kwok has work exposure with multinational
corporation, international and local law firms and has
experience in handling corporate finance including
listing compliance works, intellectual property and
cross-border transactions. Ms. Kwok was also a column
writer (legal topics) for certain overseas popular Chinese
newspapers.

Ms. ZHANG Xia, joined the Company in August 2009
as a Senior Engineer. Ms. Zhang holds a bachelor’s
degree in science, majoring in petroleum geology from
the Jianghan Petroleum Institute. She has over 30
years of experience in geological research, stratigraphic
correlation, sedimentary facies analyses, hydrocarban
source rock research, exploration well appraisal
and evaluation, and well position deployment. She
participated in and was responsible for the Sinopec
Jianghan oil project and CNPC Xinjiang oil field projects.
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Mr. ZHANG Jichun, aged 50, holds a doctorate degree
in engineering from the Geology and Geophysics
Research Institute of Chinese Academy of Sciences.
Mr. Zhang has over 27 years’ experience in the field
exploration, exploitation and integrated geological
study of oil and gas. Prior to joining the Company, he
was the Deputy Chief Geologist of Huabei Research
Institute of Petroleum Exploration and Development and
Deputy General Manager and Chief Geologist of Beijing
Youyuan Hengye Science and Technology Co. Ltd. He
was appointed as Chief Geologist of the Company in
December 2010.

Mr. WANG Peihua, aged 38, was appointed as Deputy
Country Manager-Philippines of the Company in May
2010. Mr. Wang holds a bachelor’s degree in geology,
majoring in oil and gas from Xibei University and a
master’s degree in business and administration from
Shaanxi Fengjia Institute of Management. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Wang conducted project study
analysis and demonstration for 5 oil fields between 2001
and 2007. From 2007 to 2010, he worked as the premier
in-charge at Shengli oil field for SINOPEC Shengli Oil
Field LuMing Natural Gas Production Co. Ltd.

Mr. QIN Han Sheng, aged 48, holds a bachelor’s
degree in science, majoring in petroleum from the
Chengdu Geology Institute. He joined Polyard Petroleum
International Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, as a
Senior Geologist of the Technical Team since December
2007. Mr. Qin has over 25 years’ working experience in
exploration for oil and gas in China National Petroleum
Corporation of China and was responsible for 18
petroleum exploration projects.
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The Directors would like to submit their report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2010.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group is principally engaged in the
exploration, exploitation and development of oil, natural
gas and coal, and trading of petroleum-related products.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out
in note 35 to the financial statements. An analysis of
the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

Results

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 40.
Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in note 28 to
the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and

equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

EEEREBE T TF+_A=+T—BLFE
ZHMEBRBEELAEIHRE

ERER

ARBZEBEBRREBER - AEEI2UEH
® FREAELH  RARRERIAREE A H
HEER - B AR Z EBEBHRNI B RKHM

135 NEEARFE ZEB MRS IERB DT
R RERMFE13 -

ES

AEBAFEREZREFIINE 40 EZ A WEEK ©

RE

ESTRBRBEARFEZRE -

fEfe

AN @ R AR B RER 2 18 E B B A SRR b
sF28 °

M BERRE

REBZME  WMERIEEH 2FRBIANTHR
xHITE14 -




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHEAHEMREBER AR

Report of the Directors

EERE

Convertible Bonds

Details of movements in the convertible bonds of
the Company are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the
Company are set out in note 27 to the financial
statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Cayman lIslands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a prorate basis to existing shareholders.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years ended 31
December 2010 is set out on page 168 of the annual
report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities
During the year ended 31 December 2010, neither the

Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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Share Consolidation and Rights Issues

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the
extraordinary general meeting on 15 March 2010, every
five ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each in the issued
and unissued share capital of the Company were
consolidated into one consolidated ordinary share of
HK$0.01 each in the issued and unissued share capital
of the Company. A rights issue at the subscription price
of HK$0.20 per rights share on the basis of one rights
share for every two existing shares was completed
on 8 April 2010. Details of the rights issue and share
consolidation were published in the Company’s circular
and prospectus issued to shareholders on 26 February
2010 and 16 March 2010 respectively.

As a result of the share consolidation and rights issue,
(i) the conversion price of convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$276,352,231.22 was adjusted
from HK$0.43 per share to HK$1.792 per consolidated
share, and (ii) the conversion price of convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$120,000,000 was adjusted
from HK$0.048 per share to HK$0.216 per consolidated
share, with effect from 16 March 2010. For details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement published
on 16 March 2010.

Pursuant to another ordinary resolution passed in the
extraordinary general meeting on 12 October 2010, a
rights issue at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per
rights share on the basis of one rights share for every
two existing shares was approved and completed on
2 November 2010. Details of the rights issue were
published in the Company’s circular and prospectus
issued to shareholders on 20 September 2010 and 13
October 2010, respectively.

As a result of the second rights issue, the conversion
prices of the HK$276,352,231.22 and HK$120,000,000
convertible bonds were further adjusted to HK$1.624
and HK$0.200 per share, respectively. For details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement published
on 13 October 2010.
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Proposed Transfer of Listing

The Company submitted a formal application to the
Stock Exchange on 6 January 2010 for the proposed
transfer of listing of the shares from GEM to the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange under Chapter 9A of
the Listing Rules. On 11 March 2010, the application
was rejected by the Stock Exchange on the ground
that the Company did not fulfill the requirement under
Rules 18.02(1) and 18.09(8). After due consideration,
the Board decided not to apply for the review of the
Listing Committee. However, the Board is committed
to continue to further explore the feasibilities of the
proposed transfer upon further progress of the Group’s
projects. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements published on 11 March 2010 and 1 April
2010.

Proposed Acquisition

The Board announced that on 19 April 2010, Win Easy
International Limited (“Purchaser”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Share
Purchase Agreement with Mr. Lam Nam, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, for the acquisition of the
entire issued shares of Mass Leader Inc., which was
beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Nam (“Vendor”), for a
total consideration of HK$80,000,000.

On 31 May 2010, the Vendor and the Purchaser entered
into the Termination Agreement to terminate the Share
Purchase Agreement.

The Directors are of the view that (i) the entering into
the Termination Agreement has no adverse effect to the
Company and does not have any impact on the long
term development of the Group; and (ii) the terms of the
Termination Agreement are fair and reasonable to the
Company.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
published on 31 May 2010.
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Share Options

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26
June 2002 for the purpose of providing incentives to
the Directors and eligible participants, under which
the Company may grant options to the Directors
and employees of the Group and also other eligible
participants to subscribe for shares of the Company.
Certain Directors and participants have been granted
options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares at an exercise price of HK$0.002
per share. All of these share options granted were
exercised or lapsed in or before 2008.

No share option under the Share Option Scheme
adopted by the Company was granted, exercised or
lasped during the year.

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were set
out in the Prospectus issued by the Company on 5 July
2002.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. KUAI Wei (Chairman)
Mr. CAO Xuejun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao

Mr. LIN Zhang
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Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Yanhui

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong (resigned on 4 May 2010)
Mr. WONG Kon Man Jason (appointed on 12 May 2010)

By virtue of articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Cao Xuejun, Mr. Zhang
Xiaobao and Mr. Wang Yanhui will hold office until the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
that meeting.

By virtue of article 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason, who was
appointed as independent non-executive Director on 12
May 2010, will hold office until the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, and being eligible,
offer himself for re-election at that meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. Kuai Wei entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year on 16 January 2008
which may be terminated by either party thereto giving
to the other not less than three calendar months’ prior
notice in writing and was renewed automatically upon
the anniversary date of the contract each year. Mr. Kuai
is entitled to have a monthly salary of HK$30,000 which
was determined with reference to market rates. He is
also entitled to a bonus for each financial year which is
at the Board’s discretion and determined by reference
to the Group’s results and performance for the financial
year concerned.
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Mr. Cao Xuejun entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of one year on 1 June 2008
which might be terminated by either party thereto giving
to the other party a prior notice in writing of not less
than one calendar month or paying to the other party
one month’s salary and was renewed automatically
upon the anniversary date of the contract each year. Mr.
Cao was entitled to a monthly salary of RMB40,000 for
12 months per annum, plus professional allowance of
RMB23,344, special allowance of RMB20,000 together
with traveling and communication allowance of USD$300
which were determined with reference to market rates.
In addition, the Company was required to pay any
salaries tax on behalf of Mr. Cao for any income derived
from his service provided for the Company. Following
Mr. Cao’s resignation as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, Mr. Cao entered into a new service
agreement with the Company from 4 June 2010 for a
term of one year, which may be terminated by either
party thereto giving to the other party a prior notice in
writing of not less than one calender month and will be
renewed automatically upon the anniversary date of the
contract each year. Under the new agreement, Mr. Cao
is entitled to a monthly salary of RMB20,000, which was
determined with reference to market rates.

Mr. Lin Zhang was appointed by the Company for a
term of one year commencing 1 November 2008 which
may be terminated by either party thereto giving to the
other not less than three calendar months’ prior notice
in writing, and was renewed automatically upon the
anniversary date of the contract each year. Mr. Lin is
entitled to a monthly salary of HK$25,000 for 13 months
per annum which was determined with reference to
market rates. He is also entitled to a bonus for each
financial year which is at the Board’s discretion and
determined by reference to the Group’s results and
performance for the financial year concerned.
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Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year
from 12 May 2010 which may be terminated by either
party thereto giving to the other party a prior notice in
writing of not less than 90 days. Mr. Wong is entitled to
a fixed monthly fee of HK$4,000 which was determined
with reference to market rates.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors
who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Biographical details of Directors of the Company and
senior management of the Group are set out on pages
19 to 24 of the annual report.

IBRAELEERRAFTIEZEHN BB —FF
TA+-REARE—F YA HEM—TRET
BEHTPRORZELEEBAMAL - TEEH
R EE S AT ER4,0007T  HI2EMHIHK

BEXPRTEESN  MERNEERRBFAE L
BREEZEERERARALEETFAMBARE
RERBZRBEOMZA N TER —FRARAE
BRI EMERA TOAEREAINZEEE -

EENREREEASHN

ARBEBEZBERAEESHREEAEBNHRAFR
F19EZE24H -



Annual Report 2010

—E-BEEH

Report of the Directors

EERE

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and/or Short Positions in the Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2010, save as disclosed below,
there were no interests and short positions of Directors
and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which
were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
the securities transactions by Directors.

Long positions in shares of an associated
corporation

Name of Director

EEMR

Associated corporation

HEEE

Zhang Xiaobao Sinotech Polyard Petroleum
Exploration & Development
Research Institute Limited
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short
positions of persons, other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company, in the shares and/or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group,
or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register
of substantial shareholders required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Number of
shares held
iR EE

(Note 1)
(Ktzt1)

Name of person

AT £

Lam Nam

i

711,845,196(L)
(Note 2)
(Bat2)

170,167,630(L)
(Note 4)
(Kizt4)

600,000,000(L)
(Note 3 and 4)

(Hfit3 K 4)
Silver Star Enterprises 711,845,196(L)
Holdings Inc.
(Note 2) ([fizt2)
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China International Mining
Holding Company
Limited (Note 3)
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600,000,000(L)
(Note 4)
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long positions in shares or
underlying shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of Silver Star Enterprises
Holdings Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Nam.

3. The entire issued share capital of China International
Mining Holding Company Limited is beneficially owned by
Mr. Lam Nam.

4. These shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of the conversion rights attaching to the convertible
bonds issued by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares and/
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or, who is directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group,
or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or
short positions were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or of any other body corporate granted to
any Directors, their respective spouses or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors, their
respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire such rights in the Company or any other body
corporate.
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Report of the Directors

EERE

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, 100% of the Group’s total purchases of
materials were attributable to one supplier.

During the year, 100% of the Group’s total sales were
attributable to one customer.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company (who to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company) had any interests in the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed
that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable date
prior to the issuance of this report.

Competing Interests

None of the Directors or the management shareholders
of the Company (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
had any interest in a business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

Auditors

The financial statements for the year have been audited
by Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Kuai Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B RAN RS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYARD PETROLEUM INTERNATIONAL GROUP
LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 40 to 167, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B RAN RS

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B RAN RS

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PAN-CHINA (H.K.) CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre
161-167 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

21 March 2011
Tsang Chiu Keung
Practising Certificate Number: P04968
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Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMBEREREERA A

Consolidated Income Statement

melER

For the year ended 31 December 2010

B2 —F—FF-HA=1T—HIFE

Note HK$’000 HK$°000
Wi BEFT BEF T
Turnover BERE 5 826 3,916
Cost of sales SHER A (814) (3,858)
Gross Profit EF 12 58
Other revenue and net income HoAth i 2 ROF U 5 122 126
Administrative and other operating 7T & Efth &8 5 2
expenses (26,307) (17,309)
Operating loss REEE (26,173) (17,125)
Finance costs R & AN 6 (29,396) (25,010)
Impairment loss on interests in B N Bl 2 BB 1R
associates written back o] 26,843 —
Impairment loss on interests in OB N Bl 2 R BB 1R
associates — (84,265)
Share of results of associates il AN E (10) (5)
Impairment loss on interests in jointly 7 [F 724 T 4225 2 R E
controlled entities [E518 (41,136) (21,571)
Loss before tax BR¥G A E5 18 7 (69,872) (97,976)
Income tax FTiS#i 8 3,310 2,752
Loss for the year rEEEE (66,562) (95,224)
Attributable to: L
Owners of the Company RARER A (66,110) (95,157)
Non-controlling interests FET2 Il M e 2 (452) (67)
(66,562) (95,224)
(Restated)
(Z31)
Loss per share BRERE 11
— Basic (in HK cents) — BEARGEAW) (3.90 centsfll) (7.99 centsfll)
— Diluted (in HK cents) — #5EOEAW) N/A FiE A N/A i A
All of the Group’s operations are classed as continuing. AREBRAEGHRBEAISTERSEERS -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

BEPM 2 M FE A ANERE M RAR 2 — 861D °
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

meEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HFE

HK$’000 HK$°000
BEFT B FT
Loss for the year REEEE (66,562) (95,224)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2 mks
Exchange differences on BREBINEBATEEZ
translation of foreign operations ME 5 = 17 —
Total comprehensive income for ZAFEEZEHRFEALE
the year (66,545) (95,224)
Attributable to: PEAh
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZEN (66,068) (95,157)
Non-controlling interests FEPE MRS (477) (67)

(66,545) (95,224)




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMBEREREERA A

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

n _\é,ﬂ\ji%;lﬁ)‘ﬂa%%
As at 31 December 2010
R-ZFE-—FFf—H=+—H

HK$°000

Notes HK$’000 ¢
k2 BT T JBEMTF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIZE - B K& 14 965 840
Interests in associates PR N A s 16 74,478 47,645
Interests in jointly controlled entities 7 £ [F#5 i & 224 25 17 866,382 858,151
Deferred exploration expenditure ERERN R X 18 11,347 '6,384
953,172 913,020
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from associates g NS F 20 10,155 7,603
Trade and other receivables JFE M BR TR N LAt MR TE 21 3,140 1,005
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTAE R 22 16,646 3,212
29,941 11,820
CURRENT LIABILITIES HREEE
Trade and other payables JE A~ BR SR Ko EL Ath FE A~ SR IE 23 (10,135) (88,466)
Amount due to a Director JENEEFHE 24 (1) —
(10,136) (88,466)
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ ERBEE (BE)
(LIABILITIES) 19,805 (76,646)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABEE
LIABILITIES 972,977 836,374
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Convertible bonds AR (E 5 25 (344,894) (339,205)
Deferred tax liabilities FEFRTEA & 26 (5,746) (9,056)
(350,640) (348,261)
NET ASSETS BEE 622,337 488,113
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B #HE
Share capital R 27 24,336 10,816
Reserves T 28 597,914 476,733
Equity attributable to owners of the  ZNQFIEA AE(LHER
Company 622,250 487,549
Non-controlling interests FEPE Il M A 2 87 564
TOTAL EQUITY Mg 622,337 488,113

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of KEFeRN _T——F=A=-t+—HREREET

Directors on 21 March 2011. B o
KUAI Wei LIN Zhang eR42 ME
Director Director EFE o



Statement of Financial Position

B EE IR R AR

As at 31 December 2010
R-ZFE-—FFf—H=+—H

Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Kz BETFIT BEEF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BB kA 14 75 115
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RARZI&E 15 24,895 24,895
Amounts due from subsidiaries NN E e 19 735,298 593,456
760,268 618,466
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables & W BR 3k K EL A 8 W sk IE 21 654 752
Cash and bank balances Be MIRITHER 22 10,198 70
10,852 822
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables JFE A BR R R ELAth - 3R 3B 23 (8,850) (20,897)
(8,850) (20,897)
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ FERBEE(AR)
(LIABILITIES) 2,002 (20,075)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABARG
LIABILITIES 762,270 598,391
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Convertible bonds AR E % 25 (344,894) (339,205)
Deferred tax liabilities FEBEA G 26 (5,746) (9,056)
(350,640) (348,261)
NET ASSETS BEE 411,630 250,130
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRAR #E
Share capital i@ 27 24,336 10,816
Reserves B 28 387,294 239,314
TOTAL EQUITY MEER 411,630 250,130

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 21 March 2011.

KUAI Wei
Director

LIN Zhang
Director

BEEEN-FT——F= A=+ AERERT

iE
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERGEER

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAER
Convertible Non-
Share Share Special  Exchange Capital Warrant bonds  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
Ba  RGEE  BHRE  EXRE  SARE DRERRE TEREZRE REEM B FRHtES by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BMTT  A¥FT AT BETn AEFr BETr BT REFr BETn BT AT
At 1 January 2009 INF-A-A 10,816 359,974 985 15 = 4423 62,370 140,039 578,622 591 579,213
Total comprehensive income for REERENGAE
the year - - - - - - — (57 (9157 67 (%5.224)
Issue of convertible bonds for settlement of ~ Z/TAARERILf
balance of consideration for acquisition WEHEBAR
of interests in a subsidiary En/REER - - - - - - 4,890 - 4,890 — 4890
Deferred tax liabilfies on issue of BTk
convertible bonds REHEAR - - - - - - (806) - (806) - (806)
Non-controling interests arising on issue ~ KBAFEARHEEL
of shares by a subsidiary HEhIER - - - - - - - - - 4 4
Release of reserve upon lapse of exercise  {7{F & REER
period e - - - - - (4423) - 4423 — — -
At 31 December 2009
10,816 359,974 985 15 — — 66,454 49,305 487,549 564 488,113
At 1 January 2010 RZF-25-f-A 10,816 359,974 985 15 - - 66,454 49,305 487,549 564 488,113
Total comprehensive income for AER2ENREE
the year - - - 42 - - - (66,110) (66,068) (4m) (66,545)
Issue of rights shares EitRRR 13520 175760 - - - - - — 189,280 — 189,280
Issuing expenses relating to rights issues ~ EEER 2EAR% - (3903) - - - - - - (3,90) - (3903)
Release of equity component upon expiry AT AR(EAES
of convertible bonds R - - - - - - (21,491) 21,491 - - -
Change in fair value upon extension of ~ ER TR EREZ
convertble bonds ATEEY - - - - 15,392 - - - 15,392 - 15,392
Reversal of deferred tax liabilties on RRAAREHRREEE
extension of convertible bonds HEafR - - - - - - 3,726 (3,726) - - -
At 31 December 2010 RZF-FFt-A=1-A 24,336 531,831 985 57 15,392 = 48,689 960 622,250 87 622,337




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2 A ol — 1§
HEHERER
For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T B FT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES B
Loss before tax FR 7% Al B 15 (69,872) (97,976)
Adjustments for: EE
Interest income FEWA (2) (8)
Interest expense FEZ N 29,396 25,010
Depreciation e 337 280
Share of results of associates JE(RE & QR A 10 5
Impairment loss on interests in associates N NI ey W= k!
written back | (26,843) —
Impairment loss on interests in associates B SR Rl 2 R EEE — 34,265
Impairment loss on interests in jointly controlled 7 E#EH|E S 2
entities BB 41,136 21,571
Operating loss before movements in working LBEECEFAZ
capital e (25,838) (16,848)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other JFEE LT B 5K R L A R LR
receivables FIEE )R (2,135) 70
Increase in amounts due from associates and & Ut & A 7] & L RFE
jointly controlled entities RS RIBIE N (2,552) (1,531)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  F& < BR 5k K2 H b & f-F
HIECOBED) 0 (78,331) 53,284
Cash (used in)/generated from operating IS (FTRE)
activities Frf5iRe (108,856) 34,975
Tax paid BEHIE = (6)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM L (FTFE)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES SHRBREEE (108,856) 34,969
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received on bank deposits B UERITIF KA B 2 3
Investment in jointly controlled entities RERZEG F g RE (49,367) (23,604)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BERXE (461) (117)
Payments of exploration expenditure BRSS9 3K (4,963) (6,384)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEMERESEHE (54,789) (30,102)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2 A ol — 1§
HEHERER
For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T B FT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BITL R 2 FT1SR0R 189,280 —
Issuing expenses relating to rights issues BRARAR 2 FH1TR (3,903) —
Interests paid EF 2 (8,315) (8,293)
Additional investment in subsidiaries by non- BIBIEEH MR

controlling interests MtE A Az fEIMEE — 40
Advance from/(repayment to) Directors kB (EREERK 1 2)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) MEFTEHHRE ()RS

FINANCING ACTIVITIES . 177,063 7(?,2755)7
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND H&RBR&SZEYIE M~

CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) F5E 13,418 (8,388)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHZREeRELEEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 3,212 6,600
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INESTE R G E) v B 16 =
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRZEESRRBSEEY

OF THE YEAR 16,646 3,212
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH HeRELEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2RI
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHE 16,646 3,212




Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

1. General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The registered office of the
Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands and its principal place of business
is located at Room 2602, 26th Floor, China
Merchant Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 200 Connaught
Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, the functional currency of the
Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding and the principal activities of its
subsidiaries are the exploration, exploitation and
development of oil, natural gas and coal, and the
trading of petroleum-related products.

2. Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and revised Standards, Amendments
and Interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are or have
become effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Additional Exemptions for First-time
Adopters
HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group Cash-settled Share-based

Payment Transactions
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) ~ Business Combinations

—REHR

RAARIRAEHETMKIAEREER
AE ERONREBBHERXIFMERRF
BIZER EMme RAR zdzMPERALALR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands * HEZLEMEAMVRE B LIRT
8 H 200 5% B2 H O E B K E 26 12 2602

o
ES

RPBHRRIIARRRZ N EEEREZT -

ARBZETBEBRIREZR - ENBLRRZ
T2XBRARYIR - BREBEOR - RAR
KR AN BB R mEREER

FE R #TR] R ARMERT B A M I 3 5 22
([ERBMBHREER D)

RAFEE  AEEERATIEEGTMAE
(IBREFMAR DRMAMASKDEERZ
Al RAGERT A ~ BT AR BB ([HE] R
BRI BB M REER]) -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

2. Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 5 (Amendments) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008)  Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements
HKAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible Hedged Items
HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners
HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers
HK — Int 5 Classification by the Borrower of

a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has
no material effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods, except as discuss below.

(@) HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business
Combinations and HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2008) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) introduces
a number of changes in the accounting for
business combinations that affect the initial
measurement of non-controlling interests, the
accounting for transaction costs, the initial
recognition and subsequent measurement
of a contingent consideration and business
combinations achieved in stages. These
changes will impact the amount of goodwill
recognised, the reported results in the
period that an acquisition occurs, and future
reported results.

FE R #TR] RARMERT B A M I 5 2 R
(TEBHBHREER ) (E)

BEAMBASEAZSR(ETA) HIEMEFRDEERER
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

2. Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a) HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business
Combinations and HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2008) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements (Continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) requires
that a change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary without loss of control is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
Therefore, such a change will have no
impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to
a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised
standard changes the accounting for losses
incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss
of control of a subsidiary. Consequential
amendments were made to various
standards, including, but not limited to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS12
Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, HKAS
28 Investments in Associates and HKAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised
standards are applied prospectively and
affect the accounting of acquisitions, loss of
control and transactions with non-controlling
interests after 1 January 2010.

2.

FE R #TR] R ARMERT B A M I & 2 R
(TEBHBHREER ) (E)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

2. Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in
May 2009 set out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs. There are separate transitional
provisions for each standard. While the
adoption of some of the amendments results
in changes in accounting policies, none of
these amendments has had a significant
financial impact on the Group. Details of
the key amendments most applicable to the
Group are as follows:

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows requires
that only expenditures that result in a
recognised asset in the statement of financial
position can be classified as a cash flow
from investing activities.

The Group has not early applied the following
new and revised Standards, Amendments and
Interpretations that have been issued but are not
yet effective.
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2. Application of New and Revised Hong 2. FEAHFITRKETEBMEREER
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ((EBHBREER]) (&)

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in EAMBREEN(BIAR) R-E-TERGZEBHERS
2010 except for the amendments EE‘JZEQEE EE RIS
to HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008), EAEIR(R_ZSNFLE
HKFRS 7, HKAS 1 and HKAS i) BEMBREENRTS -
28" BEeHENE 1 RREBEH
8 E 085 2 BT AR
HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Limited Exemption from ERUBREENFIR  ENFRERERREANBRE
Comparative HKFRS 7 (fBFIA) EAETRRBELREN 2 BR
Disclosures for First-time H540
Adopters®
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures - Transfers of Financial EAUBREENETS BE —S3uBEE®
Assets'” (fBEIA)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments” EANBREENSZ R HETIAD
HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax: Recovery of EAGHENS 125 EEHE  hERBEE"
Underlying Assets® (BATK)
HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)  Related Party Disclosures' EBHERE 245 EEhER"
(RZZENELEET)
HKAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of Rights Issues'” BREHENE 2% Rz HE"
(fBEIA)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 (Amendments) Prepayments of Minimum Funding Eh(ARGKRE2R  SEELERFEEY
Requirement” ZER)— RER 4R
(BzIA)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities BE(ERIHRER WRATAKEHHRES
with Equity Instruments® ZHE)— uﬁz%ws}i
m Effective for annual periods beginning on or after ™ R-ZB—TFE - A— A AERAZFEER
1 February 2010. AR -
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after @ RZZE—ZEF+LA Bz =FE——F—HA—
1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011, as appropriate. B(RTEABRME ) AR AR ZFEH
A $’Fﬁ( °©
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after @ R=ZF—TF+ A AR ZFER
1 July 2010. AR ©
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after @ R-ZT——F— A B ABHRAZEES
1 January 2011. FIAER -
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after ® R=ZZT——FtA BN eRBRZFEL
1 July 2011. FHER °
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after © R=ZF—=—F— A B ERRZFER
1 January 2012. PR o
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after ™ RZE—=F—A— B BRKBZFEH

1 January 2013. FIAER -
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2.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in
November 2009) introduces new requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial
assets. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised
in November 2010) adds requirements for financial
liabilities and for derecognition.

Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
subsequently measured at either amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that
are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair values at the end of
subsequent accounting periods.

FE R #TR] RARMERT B A M I 3 5 2
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2.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

In relation to financial liabilities, the significant
change relates to financial liabilities that are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities
that are designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, the amount of change in the fair
value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
presented in other comprehensive income, unless
the presentation of the effects of changes in
the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of
the change in the fair value of the financial liability
designated as at fair value through profit or loss
was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The Directors anticipate that HKFRS 9
that will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the annual period
beginning 1 January 2013.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 titled Disclosures
— Transfers of Financial Assets increase the
disclosure requirements for transactions involving
transfers of financial assets. These amendments
are intended to provide greater transparency
around risk exposures when a financial asset is
transferred but the transferor retains some level of
continuing exposure in the asset. The amendments
also require disclosures where transfers of
financial assets are not evenly distributed
throughout the period.

FE R #TR] R ARMERT B A M I & 2 R
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2.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The Directors do not anticipate that these
amendments to HKFRS 7 will have a significant
effect on the Group’s disclosures regarding
transfers of trade receivables previously effected.
However, if the Group enters into other types
of transfers of financial assets in the future,
disclosures regarding those transfers may be
affected.

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised
in 2009) modifies the definition of a related party
and simplifies disclosures for government-related
entities.

The disclosure exemptions introduced in HKAS
24 (as revised in 2009) do not affect the Group
because the Group is not a government-
related entity. However, disclosures regarding
related party transactions and balances in these
consolidated financial statements may be affected
when the revised version of the Standard is
applied in future accounting periods because some
counterparties that did not previously meet the
definition of a related party may come within the
scope of the Standard.

The amendments to HKAS 32 titled Classification
of Rights Issues address the classification of
certain rights issues denominated in a foreign
currency as either an equity instrument or as
a financial liability. To date, the Group has not
entered into any arrangements that would fall
within the scope of the amendments. However, if
the Group does enter into any rights issues within
the scope of the amendments in future accounting
periods, the amendments to HKAS 32 will have an
impact on the classification of those rights issues.
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2.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 provides guidance regarding the
accounting for the extinguishment of a financial
liability by the issue of equity instruments. To date,
the Group has not entered into transactions of this
nature. However, if the Group does enter into any
such transactions in the future, HK(IFRIC)-Int 19
will affect the required accounting. In particular,
under HK(IFRIC)-Int 19, equity instruments issued
under such arrangements will be measured at their
fair value, and any difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability extinguished and
the fair value of equity instruments issued will be
recognised in profit or loss.

The Directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of the other new and revised
Standards, Amendments or Interpretations will
have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. FEEHEE
These financial statements have been R BERERIDBBEESSHM A (BT
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong RAE )2 BAMBREER ([ FEHB
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), HEER DRE o N AR BHREREERS
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified BERXSFARARGIERES EMRARE
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition, BRRHEOIRE 2 BRAKESE -
these financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
The measurement basis used in the preparation MRETWE BB &ERE - RNEREGIE R
of these financial statements is the historical ARG BT EREHSEHRTETEIN
cost basis except for certain property, plant and REVA S HRERMEA 22 R ERRE LA
equipment, interests in jointly controlled entities B .
and financial instruments, which are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values.
A summary of the significant accounting policies TXEINAEEARAN 2 EESHABERBE -
adopted by the Group is set out below.
(a) Basis of Consolidation (a) HEREEXE
The consolidated financial statements HEMBHRERBEAATRENE QR
incorporate the financial statements of the (BIEARAZEH 2 FNENER) 28
Company and its subsidiaries (including BHE - ARBEREEXEB UG
special purpose entities controlled by the REBRREMIBRAEERE &
Company). Control is achieved where the PRI
Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or RAFEBANEL ZMBARIEES
disposed of during the year are included in WS AR A B R B E S AR A B
the consolidated income statement from the (@A) Y AR E KRR A °

effective date of acquisition and up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of Consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances,
income and expenses are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein.

Total comprehensive income and expense
of a subsidiary is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. Prior to 1 January 2010, losses
applicable to the non-controlling interests in
excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s equity were allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the
extent that the non-controlling interests had
a binding obligation and were able to make
an additional investment to cover the losses.

3.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

3.

ETEREFBEE)

(a)

REREEE(E)
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of Consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal
is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. Where certain
assets of the subsidiary are measured
at revalued amounts or fair values and
the related cumulative gain or loss has
been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are accounted for as if the Company
had directly disposed of the related
assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retained earnings). The
fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

3.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(b)

Business Combinations

Business combinations that took place on
or after 1 January 2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred. At the acquisition date, the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and
liabilities or assets related to employee
benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment transactions
of the acquiree or the replacement of
an acquiree’s share-based payment
transactions with share-based payment
transactions of the Group are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date;
and

3.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(b) Business Combinations (Continued)

Business combinations that took place on
or after 1 January 2010 (Continued)

J assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that Standard.

Business combinations that took place
prior to 1 January 2010

Acquisitions of businesses were accounted
for using the purchase method. The cost
of the acquisition was measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable
to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that met the relevant conditions
for recognition were generally recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(b)

Business Combinations (Continued)

Business combinations that took place
prior to 1 January 2010 (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition was
recognised as an asset and initially
measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the acquisition over the Group’s
interest in the recognised amounts of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after assessment,
the Group’s interest in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeded
the cost of the acquisition, the excess was
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interests in the acquiree
were initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.

Contingent consideration was recognised, if
and only if, the contingent consideration was
probable and could be measured reliably.
Subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration were recognised against the
cost of the acquisition.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(b) Business Combinations (Continued)

Business combinations that took place
prior to 1 January 2010 (Continued)

Business combinations achieved in stages
were accounted for as separate steps.
Goodwill was determined at each step.
Any additional acquisition did not affect the
previously recognised goodwill.

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

()

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment
on acquisition and at the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro
rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an
associate or a jointly controlled entity, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.

3.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Investments in Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the
Company. Control exists when the Company
has the power, directly or indirectly, to
govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that presently are exercisable
are taken into account.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses,
unless they are classified as held for sale.

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities

An associate is an entity over which the
investor has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Joint venture arrangements that
involve the establishment of a separate entity
in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to
as jointly controlled entities.

3. FEEFHEHEGE)

(d)

(e)
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(e)

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the
equity method and is initially recorded at
cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-
acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the associate’s or the jointly controlled
entity’s net assets, unless it is classified
as held for sale. The consolidated income
statement includes the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
associates and jointly controlled entities
for the year, including any impairment loss
on goodwill relating to the investment in
associates and jointly controlled entities
recognised for the year.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds
its interest in the associate or the jointly
controlled entity, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or the jointly
controlled entity. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the jointly
controlled entity.

3.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(e)

()

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and jointly controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associate or jointly controlled
entity, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investments in associates and
jointly controlled entities are stated at cost
less impairment losses, unless they are
classified as held for sale.

Accounting for Production Sharing
Contracts

Production sharing contracts constitute
jointly controlled operations. The Group’s
interests in production sharing contracts are
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements on the following bases:

(i) the assets that the Group controls and
the liabilities that the Group incurs; and

(i) the share of expenses that the Group
incurs and its share of income from
the production according to the terms
stipulated in these contracts.

3. FEEFHEHEGE)

(e)

()

REEARARAREFNERZREHE)

AEBEABENR R ARENERR
DFFES 2 RERIEE - ARE BIRH
ERAIAFEHERBZESESRY
W BREEEBRBRTIAZEEREEEER
BEZRE  RZBERTAAILNRIE

KRED

m ME ©

REARZBEMRER - REEAT
B FESE R IR E R AR AR
EERTIE  BEARRERE AR
o

SEBIENZERAR

EEESSABRAREGER - K&
EREEED G 2B THRIA TR
FEABRE MK ¢

() AEBERESzEERAESEEL
ZAfE &

(i) REZFANMITHZIGREE
BEL 2R EIE AR R E TS
ZEEBA -




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMBEREREERA A

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. FEEHBEAE)
(Continued)
(9) Non-current Assets Held for Sale (9) BHELEZERBEE

(h)

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded
as met only when the sale is highly probable
and the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at
the lower of the assets’ (disposal groups’)
previous carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts receivable for goods
sold and services provided in the normal
course of business, net of discounts and
sales related taxes.

(i) Income from sale of goods are
recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed.

(i) Service income is recognised when
services are provided.

(iii) Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding using the effective interest
rate method.

(h)
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(h)

()

Revenue Recognition (Continued)

(iv) Dividend income from investments is
recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment have been
established.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost or valuation less subsequent
depreciation and impairment losses.

Any revaluation increase arising on
revaluation of property, plant and equipment
is credited to the revaluation reserve, except
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously
recognised as an expense, in which case
the increase is credited to the consolidated
income statement to the extent of the
decrease previously charged. A decrease in
net carrying amount arising on revaluation of
an asset is dealt with as an expense to the
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on
the revaluation reserve relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the
attributable surplus is transferred from
revaluation reserve to retained profits.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

()

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment, after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives commencing on the date of
completion of construction for the intended
use, at the following rates:

Plant and equipment  3'/;% to 20% per
annum

Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expected useful lives
on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in
the consolidated income statement in the
year in which the item is derecognised.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

)]

Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is
recognized as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred. Expenditure on
development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to
complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials,
direct labour, and an appropriate proportion
of overheads and borrowing costs, where
applicable. Capitalised development
costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group with finite useful lives are stated
in the statement of financial position at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands
is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. Period and method of
amortisation are reviewed annually.

3.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

)]

(k)

Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill)
(Continued)

Intangible assets are not amortised while
their useful lives are assessed to be
indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is
reviewed annually to determine whether
events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for prospectively from the
date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets
with finite lives as set out above.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(k) Leases (Continued)

Assets held under finance leases are
recognized as assets of the Group at their
fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the statement
of financial position as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance charges
are charged directly to profit or loss, unless
they are directly attributable to qualifying
assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Interest in leasehold land is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

U}

Foreign Currencies

The individual financial statements of each
Group entity are presented in the currency of
the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (its functional currency).
For the purpose of the consolidated financial
statements, the results and financial position
of each entity are expressed in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the functional currency of
the Company and the presentation currency
for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements
of the individual entities, transactions
in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies)
are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

U}

Foreign Currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are included
in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences
arising on a monetary item forms part of
the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in equity in the
consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in equity,
in which cases, the exchange differences are
also recognised directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and
liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are expressed in Hong Kong dollars using
exchange rates prevailing on the reporting
date. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated
significantly during that period, in which
case, the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are included in the exchange
reserve as a separate component of equity.
Such exchange differences are recognized
in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. FESHEBRAE)

(Continued)

(I) Foreign Currencies (Continued) () shEEE)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments on s NS BRSEE AE 2 P2 R T U AT
identifiable assets acquired arising on BRBEEATEFAZRBRAHINEE L
the acquisition of a foreign operation are BEEAERE  WEHRSEHBAZRT
treated as assets and liabilities of the RN  fEFZELEZHELAERL
foreign operation and translated at the rate & o

prevailing on the reporting date. Exchange
differences arising are included in the
exchange reserve.

(m) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation (m) WEYENER R MG
Expenditure

Ongoing costs of acquisition, exploration and kg~ R R 2 B ER AR ERNME A
evaluation are capitalised as tangible assets SRR EREE HA
in relation to each separate area of interest AEmEE c EANBAREREE &
in which rights to tenure of the area of A

interest are current and in respect of which:

() such costs are expected to be () TEHZERABEEEKINMAER
recouped through successful A BR 5% i [ 5k 355 38 8 8 i e e
development and exploitation of the B

area or alternatively by their sale; or

(i) exploration and evaluation activities (i) RzitEzEEETEEEE R
in the area have not yet reached the ERATAETELE LRI
stage which permits a reasonable REZ2FEZEE  MEBRLE
assessment of the existence of RNEBISEELT ©

economically recoverable reserves, and
active and significant operations are

continuing.
Exploration and evaluation assets are MEBESE REABTYIR LT EER]
assessed for impairment when facts and RERBBEWE SR - AIBELFEHE
circumstances suggest that the carrying Eg#ETRERE °

amount of an exploration and evaluation
asset may exceed its recoverable amount.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(m) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation

(n)

Expenditure (Continued)

All exploration permits are treated as
separate areas of interest.

Once an area of interest enters a
development phase, all capitalised
acquisition, exploration and evaluation
expenditure is transferred to exploration
costs within property, plant and equipment.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until
the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(o) Employee Benefits

(0

(ii)

Short Term Employee Benefits
and Contributions to Defined

Contribution Retirement Plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and
the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Share-based Payments

The fair value of share options granted
to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options,
the total estimated fair value of the
options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(0)

Employee Benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Share-based Payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to
vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is included in profit or loss
for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to retained profits).

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
when, and only when, the Group
demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide
benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility
of withdrawal.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(p)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of
the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit as reported in the income statement
because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(p)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated
at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit
or loss, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with
in equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible
Assets Other than Goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under other
standard, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease under that
standard.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible
Assets Other than Goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount under other standard, in
which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase
under that standard.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
financial report prepared in compliance with
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting are not
reversed at the end of the reporting period
to which the interim period relates even
if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of that reporting
period.
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BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises
direct materials and, where applicable, direct
labour costs and those overheads that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less all estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs
to be incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are recognised when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

3.

ETEREHBEE)

(r)

(s)

#1

FEIDERA R BEFE 2 BRIEET
R MABREEMARNER)BE
BYHNAREFEEESHRETFHBE
REBHBFEARNMELZHERER -
B T BR R ANHE SF A AR B o A EIRF
BEEGEFHEERR TR 2B G
FRA A R T i~ SHE Ry SHIBRE
PREEAE Z fhRTRCAR ©

MBTA

EAKEZETVABTAZANEKX
B RN BEERMEEEER
IR WHBEEMYBAEBTNIUAFE
FTE - MITHRE - WERBTUHE
ENUBEEEREEZRHEAKR
FIERR O ERE ARG B 7
BESMBAEEZIATE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial Assets

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest
rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees
on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

The financial assets of the Group
include loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans
and receivables (including trade and
other receivables, bank balances and
cash) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method,
less any impairment, except where
the receivables are interest-free loans
without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(0

Financial Assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables (Continued)

Interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables when
the recognition of interest would be
immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of
each reporting period. Financial assets
are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after initial
recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the
assets have been affected.

For financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s) Financial Instruments (Continued)
(i)  Financial Assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost,
the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for similar
financial assets. Such impairment loss
will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial
asset is reduced by the impairment
losses directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance
account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited
against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(0

Financial Assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could
include:

o significant financial difficulty of
the issuer or counterparty; or

. default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation

Financial assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually,
are assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of 90 days, as
well as observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)  Financial Liabilities and Equity

Instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued
by the Group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of the entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)  Financial Liabilities and Equity

Instruments (Continued)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the
Company that contain both the liability
and conversion option components are
classified separately into respective
items on initial recognition. Conversion
option will be settled by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments
is an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of
the liability component is determined
using the prevailing market interest
rate of similar non-convertible debts.
The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible bonds
and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to
convert the loan notes into equity, is
included in the convertible bonds equity
reserve as a separate component of
equity.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. FEEHBEAE)
(Continued)
(s) Financial Instruments (Continued) (s) MBLIRAE)

(ii)  Financial Liabilities and Equity (i) HBEERKREIIA(E)

Instruments (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued) AR R1E 5 (48 )
In subsequent periods, the liability REERHAR - AIRRES8EE
component of the convertible bonds 15 A B R A 3K F2 8 S A AR T
is carried at amortised cost using the R BRSO REBERAENRNDR
effective interest method. The equity RAmEBRZBIER  BEE
RAMBRESFERFEEIE B

component, represented by the option

to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds equity
reserve until the conversion option is
exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to share
premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible bonds
equity reserve will be released to
the retained profits. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the option.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)  Financial Liabilities and Equity

Instruments (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the
issue of the convertible bonds are
allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the
allocation of the proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component
are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability component
and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting
would not be material, in which case
they are stated at cost.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when a financial asset is transferred,
the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay.

On derecognition of a financial asset,
the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable
is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial
liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

®)

Financial Guarantees, Provisions and
Contingent Liabilities

(i)  Financial Guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance

with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial
guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise
be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within
trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss
on initial recognition of any deferred

income.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

®)

Financial Guarantees, Provisions and
Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

(i)  Financial Guarantees (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially
recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the
term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In
addition, provisions are recognised
in accordance with note 3(t)(iii) if and
when (1) it becomes probable that the
holder of the guarantee will call upon
the Group under the guarantee, and (2)
the amount of that claim on the Group
is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee,
i.e. the amount initially recognised less

accumulated amortisation.

(ii) Contingent Liabilities Acquired in
Business Combinations

Contingent liabilities acquired as part
of a business combination are initially
recognized at fair value, provided the
fair value can be reliably measured.
After their initial recognition at fair
value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount
initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and
the amount that would be determined
in accordance with note 3(t)(iii).
Contingent liabilities acquired in a
business combination that cannot be
reliably fair valued are disclosed in

accordance with note 3(t)(iii).
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

®)

Financial Guarantees, Provisions and
Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

(iii) Other Provisions and Contingent

Liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the
Group has a present obligation as a
result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Present obligation is disclosed as
a contingent liability where it is not
probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle
the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliably. Possible obligation
that arises from past events and whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed
as a contingent liability unless the
probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

3.

ETEREFBEE)

®)

MBER  BERIREEE)

(iii) EftBERAAREE
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. FEEHBEAE)
(Continued)
(u) Related Parties (uy BER

A party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(i)  The party, directly or indirectly through
one or more intermediaries, (1)
controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (2)
has an interest in the Group that gives
it significant influence over the Group;
or (3) has joint control over the Group;

(i) The party is an associate;

(ili) The party is a jointly controlled entity;

(iv) The party is a member of the key
management personnel of the Group or
its parent;

(v) The party is a close member of the
family of any individual referred to in (i)
or (iv);

(vi) The party is an entity that is controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides,
with directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vi) The party is a post-employment
benefit plan which is for the benefit of
employees of the Group or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

— R REANEE G RE - i

(i)

(iii)

(vii)
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(u)

(v)

Related Parties (Continued)

Close family members of an individual are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments
are not aggregated for financial reporting
purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar
in respect of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

3.
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates

(a)

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies, management has made
the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations as discussed below,
which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

(i) Impairment of Assets

In determining whether an asset
is impaired or the event previously
causing the impairment no longer
exists, the management has to
exercise judgment in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred
that may effect the asset value or
such event affecting the asset value
has not been in existence; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of
the asset or derecognition; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow
projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management
to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the
growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the
impairment test.

4.

BERERHE R
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(a)

Judgments (Continued)

(i)

Income Taxes

Deferred tax is provided for using
the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised
for unused tax losses carried forward
to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available
against which the unused tax losses
can be utilised, based on all available
evidence. Recognition primarily
involves judgement regarding the
future performance of the particular
legal entity or tax group in which
the deferred tax asset has been
recognised. A variety of other factors
are also evaluated in considering
whether there is convincing evidence
that it is probable that a portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will ultimately
be realised, such as the existence
of taxable temporary differences, tax
planning strategies and the periods
in which estimated tax losses can
be utilised. The carrying amount
of deferred tax assets and related
financial models and budgets are
reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and to the extent that there
is insufficient convincing evidence
that sufficient taxable profits will be
available within the utilization periods
to allow utilisation of the carry forward
tax losses, the asset balance will be
reduced and charged to the income
statement.

4.

EREFHE R (E)
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(b)

Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the
future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the Group’s assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

(0

Impairment Test of Assets

The management determines whether
an asset is impaired at least on an
annual basis or where an indication
of impairment exists. This requires
an estimation of the value in use of
the asset. Estimating the value in use
requires the management to make an
estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the assets and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

4.

BAREHHERMER(E)

(b)
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(b)

Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Income Taxes

The management reviews the carrying
amount of deferred tax assets at the
end of each reporting period and
reduces the amount to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. This requires an estimation
of the future taxable profits. Estimating
the future taxable profits requires the
management to make an estimate of
the expected future earnings of the
Group and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of the earnings.

Depreciation of Property, Plant and
Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account of their estimated
residual value. The determination of
the useful lives and residual values
involve management’s estimation. The
management assesses annually the
residual value and the useful life of the
property, plant and equipment and if
the expectation differs from the original
estimate, such a difference may impact
the depreciation in the year when the
estimate is changed and the future
period.

4.
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5. Revenue

5. Wz

(a) An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the (a) AEBZARFEEFEEHTOT :

year is as follows:

HK$°000 HK$’000

BMTT BETT

Sales of petroleum-related products 5% A M iE# Em 826 3,916

(b)  An analysis of the Group’s other revenue (b) ANE=[E 2 ARG EH Uk SF WA S HT

and net income for the year is as follows: o

HKS$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Bank interest income HRITHEUA 2 3
Sundry income HIEUA 120 123
122 126

6. Finance Costs

6. BEMKA

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T JBEEF T

Bank overdraft interest RITELF B 6 =

Effective interest on convertible bonds AR E S 2 B F B 29,372 25,008
Interest on amount due to JERBAEARIREZFIBE

a related company 15 2

Other interest HFH S 3 =

29,396 25,010
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7.

Loss Before Tax

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging:

7. BREAER

BRI EE B ATIRR ¢

HKS$’000 HK$’000
JBMETF T BB F T
Staff costs BT kA
(including directors’ remuneration) (BREEMSE)
— Salaries and other benefits — e REMER 10,790 7,594
— Retirement scheme contributions — RIRETEIE R 104 93
10,894 7,687
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREM B &
Audit services EAZ RS 414 390
Non-audit services IEEZRTE 400 120
814 510
Depreciation of property, Y BE R
plant and equipment RETE 337 280
Operating lease payments for THREF 2
land and buildings 498 1,857 1,641
Carrying amount of inventories sold ELFEREE 814 3,858
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8. Income Tax

HK$°000 HK$°000
BETFT JBEMF T

Current tax: AREAFRIA
— Hong Kong — BB — —
— Other jurisdictions — Hih AR — (6)
Deferred tax REF IR 3,310 2,758
Income tax credit for the year REEMEFRIEKE 3,310 2,752

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of
16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax at the rate of 25% (2009: 25%).
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated
at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Deferred tax for the year represents tax income
recognized on reversal of temporary differences
arising from convertible bonds.

No deferred tax has been recognized on losses for
the year of approximately HK$9,931,000 (2009:
HK$7,491,000) due to unpredictability stream of
future taxable profits that will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilized.

There was no material unprovided deferred tax
charge for the year (2009: Nil).

EBFNER RN FE A ERE G IE
16.5% (—ZZT N F : 16.5%) ZFHR:1HE o

R B A A B 25% (Z T E N F - 25%)
MR PBRCERESR - REMFLEAERE
EZHBIREER AR BITREE -

REE 2T IR R LB E AR A 75 P EE A
B E R R 2 RIEUA ©

FR A AT A A A1 755 85 1B 4K 8 2 R 2R B AR i v A
2 PROREE DATE R - B B AN R R BB 405
#9,931,000 L(ZZZ N4F : #% 7,491,000
TL) FERIEIEFR 1A o

AEFWEEARFTRBEEREF A H (=
ZTNF  H|) -
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8.

Income Tax (Continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the
loss per the consolidated income statement as
follows:

8. FiEBil(&E)

AEZHIAM EGAWER ZERERNT

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEFT

Loss before tax B 7% Bl & 18 (69,872) (97,976)
Notional tax credit on loss before tax, LR AR RN ERA B

calculated at the tax rates applicable to A E 2 RBRIEE 2

profits in the jurisdictions concerned BEMIBES 11,529 15,944
Tax effect of share of results of JEMREEE AR EE 2

associates RIS & (2) 1
Tax effect of impairment loss on interests  FABf & N GlHEsS 2 FE

in associates BE BB E 4,429 (3,559)
Tax effect of impairment loss on interests A 4t [E#22| B & 1 25 2 Rl E

in jointly controlled entities BB GG e (6,787) (5,654)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PRI 2 B 2 (5,303) (4,166)
Tax effect of non-taxable income EERBWA 2B 72 64 150
Tax effect of losses not allowable NAMNB 18 2 IS e 28 (2,181) (1,292)
Tax effect of allowable losses not RERAIFBEZ

recognised g2 (1,743) (1,268)
Tax effect of other temporary differences Hfth RFER LR =22

not recognised IS 2 3,304 2,596
Income tax credit for the year REZFREHER 3,310 2,752
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9

Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 9.

()

Directors’ Emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of
the 8 (2009: 7) Directors are as follows:

EEREEHMH

(i) E=Fm
BEXfsEX T NAR(=
HBIBEEZEHMOT ¢

FEAF L

Salaries Retirement
and other scheme
benefits  contributions
HeR
HtER  BIRGEIER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETFT BEFT BEFT BEFT
Executive Directors: HWITES
KUAI Wei ElE — 360 — 360
CAO Xuejun EEE — 656 - 656
Zhang Xiaobao REE — 301 — 301
LIN Zhang wE - 346 12 358
Independent non-executive ~ BUFEHITEE :
Directors:
CHAN Kin Cheong (note a) B2 E(#i#a)
WANG Yanhui FHE = — — —
PAI Hsi-Ping BBk - = = -
WONG Kon Man Jason F&X(Hizb)
(note b) 31 — - 31
31 1,663 12 1,706
Notes: HeE -

(@ Mr. Chan Kin Cheong resigned as an
independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 4 May 2010.

(b)  Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 12 May 2010.

(a) MREEEAER-_ZFT-ZTFRAMARF

ERDBBILIFRITES -

(b) EBRXEER-_ZT-—FTFAHA+_H
BREIRARBBLIFNITES -
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9.

Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 9. EEREEHMZE)
(Continued)
(i) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (i) ES=FHME)
2009 —TTNEF Salaries  Retirement
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
ek
we HEF RS st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT BEFT BT
Executive Directors: HITES:
CAO Xuejun HEE — 1,163 — 1,163
KUAI Wei ez = 387 — 387
LIN Zhang B = 352 — 352
ZHANG Xiaobao (note a)  REEE (ffita) — 53 - 53
Independent non-executive B FEHTEE
Directors:
CHAN Kin Cheong BRizE
WANG Yanhui B = == e —
ZHANG Xiaobao (note a)  REEE (fifita) = — — -
PAI Hsi-Ping (note b) BIBRE (M) = = — —
— 1,955 — 1,955
Notes: Hiet -

(a)

Mr. Zhang Xiaobao held office as an
independent non-executive director of the
Company up to 16 May 2009 when he was
appointed as an executive Director of the
Company.

Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 30 July 2009.

(a) KREBAEECTARABIIENTE
EE_ZTTNAFRA+NB HEE
ZEARARMITES -

by HABREENR-—ZZHAFLA=+H
EZTAARRBYIERTES -
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Of

Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 9. EEREEHMZE)
(Continued)
(ii) Of the 5 individuals with the highest (i) AEEREZERFMALH  —H(CZE

emoluments in the Group, 1 (2009: 2) is a TNF:WMB)BARAES - ZHWE
Director of the Company. The emoluments of (ZZZNF: =R)FEFATZHM
the 4 (2009: 3) non-Director individuals are R

as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 2,768 1,549
Retirement scheme contributions EIRETEIE R 12 12
2,780 1,561

The emoluments of those 4 (2009: 3) ZHE(ZFTNE =R FMERIHF
non-Director individuals with the highest EEATZHMN T T IIEE -
emoluments are within the following bands:

Number of individuals

AR
2010 2009
e —TTNE
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 P 0T ZE 5% 1,000,000 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,000,001 ;T2

7% 2,000,000 7T 1 —
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10. Loss Attributable to Owners of the

Company

The consolidated loss attributable to owners of
the Company for the year ended 31 December
2010 includes a loss of HK$36,935,000 (2009:
HK$29,926,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the
Company’s loss for the year is as follows:

10.

ARBAEEAREER

HEZZ " ZTF+_A=+—HLFE"
ARREBABERAEBEBRREBBEE
36,935,000 /(=TT N4 : /5% 29,926,000
TL) ' ZBERERARRZHMSHERNERE -

NESBBEARBZAFEBEHRNAT :

HK$’000 HK$’000
B F T BEFT
Amount of consolidated loss RAR B HBIHREA
attributable to owners dealt BRI 2 A ARG
with in the Company’s financial REBESRE
statements (36,935) (29,926)
Impairment losses on amounts FEWHIE A RIFRIEZ
due from subsidiaries BIEEE (2,724) (149,478)
Consultancy fee income charged 2 WHEAFERME
to subsidiaries WA 390 908
Company’s loss for the year KRB Z AFEEE
(Note 28) (Bt 28) (39,269) (178,496)
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11. Loss Per Share 11.

The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per
share are based on the following data:

BRER

BREAREEERDRETIIBIRTE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Loss for the year attributable RARHER AEL
to owners of the Company NFEEEE (66,110) (95,157)
(Restated)
Number of shares &k Q= ’000 ’000
FiR Fig
Weighted average number of ordinary ST EBREREEEKA
shares used in the calculation of basic 2 NNRE ) m AR 2 B
loss per share 1,693,710 1,190,632
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares #&5& 5/ L @% ~ 2 600,000 545,276
Weighted average number of ordinary ST EEGREE SRR
shares used in the calculation of diluted 7 fn#E 15 & @A% &
loss per share 2,293,710 1,735,908

Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares on
convertible bonds and warrants is considered to
be nil as the average market price of ordinary
shares during the relevant periods is below the
conversion price of the convertible bonds and the
exercise price of the warrants.

BN A R AT B P EER Ak
BHZHBERBRIEE 2TTERE - ARk
BEMRBBEEMS R ETEEEBR T E
WRRT
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11. Loss Per Share (Continued)

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2010 and 2009 has not been disclosed
as the potential shares arising from the conversion
of the convertible bonds and exercise of the
warrants would decrease the loss per share of
the Group for the year, and is regarded as anti-
dilutive.

The number of shares for the purposes of
calculating basic loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2009 has been adjusted and
restated to reflect the share consolidation and
rights issues during the year.

12. Dividends

No dividend has been paid or proposed for the
year (2009: Nil).

13. Segment Information

The Group determines its operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief
operating decision-makers that are used to make
strategic decisions.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
has 2 reportable segments — (1) exploration of oil,
natural gas and coal, and (2) trading of petroleum-
related products. These segments are managed
separately as they belong to different industries
and require different operating systems and
strategies.

There were no sales or other transactions between
those reportable segments.

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment
revenues, results, assets, liabilities and other
selected financial information is presented below.

11.

12.

13.

BREBE(E)

BRI MR ES RITERREREE 2 &
EBRO RO A RERAFE 2 SREEMEK
BRRES BNUYERERE—_T-TFR_
ZETNF+ZRA=T—HIEFEZEREEE

18

AEEE_ZTNFT_A=T—HILEES
IREREERA 2K DB E ERHBRET
VAR BREE ) 2 B0 & B B AR

8=

AEEIEERNKZZRNTRE(ZTZEAN
FE) e

2 EBEH

REEIR B R 2R R AP B A A LE H SR AR
MERE 2 REEEHLLNE -

HE"T—TF+_A=1+—HILFE  £&
BAEMERSDH — (1) BERAHE - RARK
Bk RQEBEBLHBEER - HIRZED
MBRTRITERTETRLE R LR
WORER -

ZEMEN B AL EHELEMZ S -

=113

AEBERED RS - ¥E  BE - AERE
MRIEVEERZAT25I0F -
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13. Segment Information (Continued)

(a)

Reportable Segments

Segment revenues and results

13. o HERE)
(a) HMEDH

ZEWEE REE

Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum
natural gas related
and coal products
BRRMH BERH
RARRE R ERER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BEFT BYETTT BYEFTT
Turnover: EEE
Revenues from external customers REMDEE 2 W — 826 826
Interest income FIBHA 1 1 2
Total income WAL 1 827 828
Reportable segment loss before tax WED 2 BRFIRTE R (7,623) (144) (7,767)
Unallocated corporate income VAl I N 120
Unallocated corporate expenses AABEERT (18,535)
Impairment loss on interests in MEEE R AR 2R E
associates written back BEED 26,843 26,843
Impairment loss on interests in RERERIEERER
jointly controlled entities REEE (41,136) (41,136)
Share of results of associates JE(RES & DAl (10) (10)
Interest expense MERX (29,387) (29,387)
Loss before tax BB ATER (69,872)
Income tax PriSH 3,310 3,310
Loss for the year rEERR (66,562)

13
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13. Segment Information (Continued)

(a)

Reportable Segments (Continued)

13.

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

DEER(E)

(a) HEDI(E)

PEHEEREE(E)

Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum
natural gas related
and coal products
BRAS BEAM
AR RS HEER
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BEFT BEFT BEFIT
Tumnover: B
Revenues from external customers REIBEP 2 W5 — 3,916 3,916
Interest income VN 1 2 3
Other revenues Hio s 4 — 4
Total income WA LE 5 3,918 3,923
Reportable segment loss before tax BED BT AIEE (6,841) (130) (6,971)
Unallocated corporate income ADEBERA 119
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEERT (10,273)
Impairment loss on interests in
associates N ANl SR =) S (34,265) (34,265)
Impairment loss on interests in RERZEHEEER
jointly controlled entities REER (21,571) (21,571)
Share of results of associates il AN E S (5) (5)
Interest expense FEHRZ (25,010) (25,010)
Loss before tax BREAIER (97,976)
Income tax Fri5in 2,752 2,752
Loss for the year AEEER (95,224)
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13. Segment Information (Continued)
Reportable Segments (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

Assets:
Segment assets
Interests in associates
Interests in jointly controlled entities
Unallocated corporate assets

DEER(E)

(a) HBEDI(HE)

HK$’000
BETT

26,684
74,478
866,382
15,569

Total assets

Liabilities:
Segment liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities

DEHEERERE
Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum
natural gas related
and coal products
BRAMH BEERMH
KRR HHER
HK$’000 HK$°000
BEFT BEFT
24,690 1,994
74,478 =
866,382 =
355,772 1,035

983,113

356,807
3,969

Total liabilities

360,776
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13. Segment Information (Continued)

(a)

Reportable Segments (Continued)

13.

DEER(E)

(a) HEDI(E)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) FEHBEEREE(E)
Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum
natural gas related
and coal products
BRAH BEAMH
RARRE K HEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BEFT BETFT BETFT
Assets: BEE
Segment assets NEEE 9,081 1,096 10,177
Interests in associates i NET ) 47,645 — 47,645
Interests in jointly controlled entities RERZEHEEER 858,151 — 858,151
Unallocated corporate assets AP EEEE 8,867
Total assets BEE 924,840
Liabilities: BfE:
Segment liabilities AHEE 375,226 — 375,226
Unallocated corporate liabilities AORECEEE 61,501
Total liabilities mafk

436,727
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HK$°000
BETT

337
461

13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DEERE)
(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) HmEDPI(E)
Other segment information B 5 =2E&H
Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum
natural gas related
and coal products Unallocated
BREH BERM
RARRE % HHEER Bl
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT
Depreciation neE 254 — 83
Capital expenditure BARHY 313 — 148
Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum
natural gas related
and coal products Unallocated
BRAH BEERM
RRRFER HERER AP
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT BEFT BETFT
Depreciation neE 213 — 67
Capital expenditure BARHEY 67 — 50

HK$'000
BETFT

280
117

117
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DEER(E)
(b) Geographical Information (b) HEEHR
The following table sets out information TREFE@ () AEBREINBEFE 2
about the geographical location of (i) the W R (i) ANEBEYE - BENMEE - &
Group’s revenues from external customers FEAE  mBE  URREBEATIRER
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and rHEEERS((BEERDEE]) 2
equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and BANBEEE EEZHEME EIEER
interests in associates and jointly controlled HREXHEEMZ HEETIRE ° 5 E
entities (“specified non-current assets”). ERBEEZHEMNERBRIE(INEY
The geographical location of customers is 2 BELEREBEEEEMMAEMLE -
based on the location at which the services (INBEFEELEE)EDI 2 4B H
were provided or the goods delivered. The B AR (B e N A R RESIE
geographical location of the specified non- B ) BT MR o
current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets, in the case of
property, plant and equipment, the location of
the operation to which they are allocated, in
the case of intangible and goodwill, and the
location of operation, in the case of interests
in associates and jointly controlled entities.
Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REMBEF 2K E BREERBEE
2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-ZF —TTNF —B-BF _TTNF
HK$°000 HK$000  HK$’000 HK$°000
BETFT BT EBETT  BETT
Mainland China, including HERH - BIEEB &

Hong Kong and Macau JEFY 826 3,916 965 840
Brunei D — — 866,382 858,151
Philippines FEE — — 85,825 54,029

826 3,916 953,172 913,020
(c) Information about major customers (c) EBEXEEFZEH

Included in revenues from external
customers of HK$826,000 (2009:
HK$3,916,000) are revenues of HK$826,000
(2009: HK$2,226,000) which arose from
sales to the Group’s largest customer under
the trading of petroleum-related products
segment.

REINBEE 2 Uk a5 75 826,000 (=
TN F : BH3,916,000T) BHEE =
BHHEERDHETARAEEZFAT
P 1T 85 S T £ 4 2 W 75 % 826,000
TL(ZEZ N « 5% 2,226,0007T) °
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

14. Y% - BERRE

The Group NEE
Plant and
equipment
BB KRR
HK$°000
B F T
Cost or valuation: B &N A L]
At 1 January 2009 RZTZNFE—HA—H 1,309
Additions NE 117
Disposals HE (14)
At 31 December 2009 and REZBZEAFH_H=+—HK
1 January 2010 —=—-TF—-H—H 1,412
Additions NE 461
Exchange adjustment b 54, 3 B 2
At 31 December 2010 R=ZB-—ZFF+-H=+—H 1,875
Depreciation and impairment: & RORE
At 1 January 2009 RZZTZENFE—FA—H 306
Provided for the year EE R 280
Written back on disposals A & R ] (14)
At 31 December 2009 and REZBZEAFH_H=+—HK
1 January 2010 —=—TF—-H—H 572
Provided for the year RNEERAE 337
Exchange adjustment b H 22 1
At 31 December 2010 R=ZF—FTFF=-H=+H 910
Carrying amounts: BRTEE :
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZFF+-—A=+—H 965
At 31 December 2009 RZZEEAF+ZA=+—H 840

19
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

14. W% BERRE(E)

(Continued)
The Company PN
Plant and
equipment
BERBE
HK$’000
B FT
Cost or valuation: AN AEE
At 1 January 2009 RZEZNF—HA—AH 241
Disposals k= (14)
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 RZBZENFF+_A=1T—H8K
and at 31 December 2010 —T—EETF-HA—HER
—E-EF+HA=+—H 227
Depreciation and impairment: TERRAE
At 1 January 2009 RZZTZENFE—HA—H 82
Provided for the year REERAME 44
Written back on disposals A &S B ] (14)
At 31 December 2009 and RZZEZEANF+—A=1T—HK
1 January 2010 —T—ZTF—HF—H 112
Provided for the year NEE BB 40
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZF+_A=+—H 152
Carrying amounts: FRHEE -
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZFF+-A=+—H 75
At 31 December 2009 RZZZENF+=ZA=+—H 115
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15. RIFBRARIZKRE

15. Investments in Subsidiaries

The Company

AR F

2010
.

HK$°000
BEFT

Unlisted shares, at cost JE LR © A 24,895

HK$’000
BET T

24,895

Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2010, which materially affect the Group’s results or
net assets, are set out in note 35.

TEE DI PAPFESS

RZZE-—ZF+-_A=+—H HEAFE ¥
ERFEEAREAVEZIEMBARIZF

16. Interests in Associates 16. REZ N EIRERE
The Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E—ZF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEF T
At the beginning of the year REEA] 47,645 81,915
Share of loss of associates i3 NI E S (10) (5)
Impairment loss written BE(FER) 2 MEEE
back/(recognized) 26,843 (34,265)
At the end of the year RER 74,478 47,645
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16. Interests in Associates (Continued)

16. REEE NTIRER(Z)

Place of Attributable equity
incorporation/ Registered interest held by
operation capital the Group
REnE ZRER EEARERE 2 RE
2010 2009
—E-ZF “ETNE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EE G B fi
Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.  Philippines ~ PHP2,500,000 40% 24% 40% 24%
FaE 2,500,000 %
Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp. ~ Philippines PHP2,500,000 40% - 40% —
FEE 2,500,000 %%

Principal activities

IRER

Coal mining

RERR

Investment holding
REER



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

16. Interests in Associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of

associates are set out below:

16. REEE NTIRER(E)

ERBERR <M BERBRIT -

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
BE BHE
—2-%F “EThF
+=A=+—H +=—A=+—-8©
LEFE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
B FT BT
Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.
Turnover e = =
Profit for the year NEE A 22 =
Profit attributable to the Group ARE B (LR 9 =

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2010

R-ZB—ZF

+=—A=+—H
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Total assets BEE 10,715 8,973
Total liabilities BER (37) (8,798)
Net assets FEE 10,678 175
Net assets attributable to the Group AEBEGFEE 4,271 70
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16. Interests in Associates (Continued)

16. REEE NTIRER(Z)

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

Bz BHE

—s-%% —EThE

+=A=+-—H +=—A=+—H

LFE IEFE

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT T
Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp. Eastern Star Mining and
and its subsidiary Power Corp. I E [} &

NC]

Turnover EEE = =

Loss for the year RNEE B8 (27) (13)

Loss attributable to the Group AEEELEE (10) (5)

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2010

R-Z—ZF

+=A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
B F T JBEMTF T
Total assets BEE 11,193 8,945
Total liabilities BasE (10,655) (8,630)
Net assets FEE 538 315
Net assets attributable to the Group AEEEMFEE 217 126
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17. Inter

ests in Jointly Controlled Entities

The effective interest held by the Group in a
jointly controlled entity which is engaged in the
exploration of oil and gas in Brunei is 21% (2009:

17.

RARZEFBEES

AEBR K RE B B 58 (H R R F R
HRIFECEREER21% (ZFThF -
21%) °

21%).
The Group
AEME
2010
—E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
At the beginning of the year REA] 858,151 856,118
Additional investments REIMEE 49,367 23,604
Impairment loss (note (a)) BIEBE K (a) (41,136) (21,571)
At the end of the year GRS 866,382 858,151

Notes:

(a)

The valuation of the Oil Project in Brunei as at
31 December 2010 was US$530,723,000 (2009:
US$524,581,000), as per a valuation prepared
by Greater China Appraisal Limited, a firm of
professional valuers, of which approximately
US$111,076,000 (2009: US$110,162,000),
equivalent to approximately HK$866,382,000
(2009: HK$858,151,000) was attributable to
the interests held by the Group, resulting in an
impairment loss of approximately HK$41,136,000
at 31 December 2010 (2009: HK$21,571,000).

Hyat

(@) REZEMEEMTEZTEGRAD A AEZ
ZEE WHAHRBER-_Z—SF+=
A =+—8 21418 A&530,723,000% jt(—
T E f|, & 524,581,000k T ) 0 H &4
111,076,000 % 7T ( = EE AL : 110,162,000
=7T)IRER 4755 866,382,000 T(—ZEZT N,
F : 5% 858,151,000 7T ) 57 B RN AN B AT
R BRR-T—ZTF+-_A=1+—HHEE
BB #0751 41,136,000 T( — TN 4F ¢
751 21,571,000 7T) °

125
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18. Deferred Exploration Expenditure 18. ELEENRBAX
The Group
AEE
2010
—E—ZF

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT T B F T
At cost R A 11,347 6,384
Less: Impairment losses JB REEE = =
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,347 6,384
Reconciliation of movements: BAENHAR
At the beginning of the year REH] 6,384 —
Amount recognized BEER LR 4,963 6,384
At the end of the year TGS 11,347 6,384
Ultimate recoupment of this expenditure is BRI B % TR T AN B FH AR
dependent upon the continuance of the Group’s MR 2 A HENE BlEERITHARE
right to tenure of the areas of interest and the ZERIRAER - HEK IR R ENEE - sk A8
discovery of commercially viable oil and gas EREEEzcREEaEEREEmE -
reserves, their successful development and
exploitation, or, alternatively, sale of the respective
areas of interest at an amount at least equal to
book value.
Impairment losses are provided for when the REREERS A O £5ER - BlfEL REERE
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. A o
Exploration expenditure is written off and any RN E sk & 5T ] 5 - B 2 ey
related impairment losses released when permits T {a] 4R B8 Rl (B B 18 Bl JE B¢ (O] o

are relinquished or disposed of.
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19. Amounts due from Subsidiaries

19.

FE UK Bt B 2 R R IE

The Company

¥ N

2010

—E2-25
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UG B 8 A BN IE 887,500 742,934
Less: impairment losses JE - REEE (152,202) (149,478)
735,298 593,456

The amounts are unsecured and non-interest
bearing. The Company has no intention to demand
repayment within 1 year after the reporting date
and the amounts are therefore classified as non-
current assets.

20. Amounts due from Associates

20.

HHRERERTRRE - ARAEREZRKNE
=BG —FRENR - BULSIREERAIER
PEE -

P& W Bt & 1 B 7R IR

The Group
AEH

2010
g5

Amounts due from associates

G N

Ee!

HK$°000
EBEFT

HK$000
JBEMTF T

10,155 7,603

The amounts due from associates are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

R E QR RALEER REREETE
TRH o
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21. Trade and Other Receivables 21.

The Group has a policy of allowing average credit
periods ranging from 2 weeks to 1 month to its
trade customers. In addition, for certain customers
with long-established relationship and good past
repayment histories, a longer credit period may be

oy

= TAA

Wi e o B2 L At FE WK IR

AEBCBRAGTHEZEPNFRMBE—
Az FHLERE « ttoh -
& XWHRIFBE
ZFRRRE o

ETERYEAH
SR RP  AIEER

granted.
The Group The Company
rRHE ERAH
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF —TTNF —B-BF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BETT
Trade receivables e U BR X 1,051 65 — —
Other debtors, deposits and ~ EMEWFIE « & &
prepayments TR RIR 2,089 940 654 752
3,140 1,005 654 752
The Group The Company
rEE AN
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF —TTNEF —B-BF —TTIF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT GBETFrm BB TT
An aged analysis of trade JFE U BR TR 2 AR R D AT
receivables is as follows: U
31 — 60 days 31 — 60K - 65 — —
61 — 270 days 61 — 270 K 984 — —_ —
Over 360 days B 3E 360 K 67 — — —
1,051 65 — —
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21.

Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are
past due but not impaired is as follows:

21. EWIRR R H b RE R ()

EBHERREZ BEERRZ R DOTAT

The Group The Company
rEE PN
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF —_TTNF Z—B-BF _TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000
BT BTt BEFm BT
Overdue by peng:t
91-180 days 91-180 X 984 = — =
Over 360 days 838 360 K 67 — — —
1,051 — — —

Trade receivables of HK$984,000 as shown in
the above have been settled after the end of the
reporting period. No impairment loss has been
recognised on the remaining amount of HK$67,000
as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the amount is still considered
recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

None of the prepayments, deposits and other
receivables is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances
are related to receivables for which there have
been no recent history of default.

- 3tt E UK BR 3108 #5 984,000 7T B R 3R & B R
“EE AR EEEXTESAEH  BF
B SR IE AR B AT UK [ - B 4 B o 5 S
67,000 LHERHERE - AEETEFHE
FAE A AR RN EMEERA -

BERNFIA - e R E b EKIARBHK
ERE - DAESRem B EE SR
EHRGSZ BEFIRER -

129




130

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMBEREREERA A

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

22. Cash and Bank Balances

22. HERBITHEER

The Group The Company
rEE AAH
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —_TTNF ZB-BF _TTNF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BT BT BETT
Cash at banks and other HRITRE M F
financial institutions HEIEIR & 16,510 3,066 10,198 70
Cash in hand FEBA® 136 146 — —
16,646 3,212 10,198 70

23. Trade and Other Payables

23. BNRRREMESKE

The Group The Company
REE /N

2010 2009 2010 2009

—E-BFE —TTNF ZB-FTF —TTHF

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT JEMFT BETFT BT

Trade creditors FEfTBRFR 970 — — —
Other creditors and accrued  Eft fE <t 7018 & fE =t

charges E=4== 3,181 5,216 1,271 1,096

Amounts due to related parties fE1tR:E 77 Z18 4,510 51,414 4,820 —

Amounts due to shareholders FE{} %5 218 1,328 31,662 2,759 19,801

Amounts due to associates JFE (Bt & A R 5RIE 146 174 — —

10,135 88,466 8,850 20,897

Amounts due to related parties, shareholders and
associates are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed terms of repayment.

FERTREE T - PR R & R R RIA G R EE
B REREEETH
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23. Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 23. ENERARHEMMERSREE)
An aged analysis of trade payables is as follows: FERTBR R Z BRER D ATIA T -

The Group The Company
rEE AAH

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF —TTNF ZEB-TF —TTNF
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT JBEFr EBETT EFETFT

61 — 270 days 61 — 270 X 970 = — =

All trade payables as shown in the above have LA EAERE R RS HRESZ T -
been settled after the end of the reporting period.

24. Amount due to a Director 24, ENESEFE

The Group The Company
£33 LN

2010 2009 2010 2009
—F—8F —_TTNF =—FT-8F —_TTNEF
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$°000  HK$'000
BMTFT BETT BMTT  BETT

LIN Zhang M= 1 — — _

The amount due to a Director is unsecured, ENEEFBEAERF 2EREEEER
interest-free and has no fixed term of repayment. B o
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25. Convertible Bonds 25. TR ES

HK$’000
BT T
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZNF—HA—H 315,378
Liability component of the Convertible Bonds B Z%775 —#t AJ 32 % (E5 B
Tranche 1 issued B EHBH 7,110
Interest charged BEF & 25,008
Interest paid [=EREESS (8,291)
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 RZBEZEAF+ZA=+—BRK
—ET-FTF—F—H 339,205
Change in fair value upon extension of the TR ES AR QA FEZE —
Convertible Bonds A — charge to S YN N
capital reserve (15,392)
Interest charged B BUF B2 29,372
Interest paid 2T A (8,291)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZB—ZF+-H=+—H 344,894

The convertible bonds issued to Mr. Lam Nam
(the “Bondholder 1”) at a nominal value of
HK$276,352,231.22 for a term of 36 months on
10 October 2007 (the “Convertible Bonds A”) at
the coupon rate of 3% per annum accrued on
a day to day basis has matured on 10 October
2010. Pursuant to the agreement entered between
Mr. Lam Nam and the Company, the Convertible
Bonds A has extended for a term of 12 months
from 10 October 2010 at the coupon rate of 3%
per annum accrued on a day to day basis.

The Bondholder 1 may at any business day after
the date of extension of the Convertible Bonds A
convert the whole or any part at an amount in an
integral multiple of HK$100,000 of the principal
amount of the Convertible Bonds A into ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$1.624 per
conversion share.

R=ZTZ+F+A+A - JRRES (iR
EAA|) IR T 878 # 276,352,231.22 7T & 17
THEEE(TESFEAL]D) - BHS6HEA -
FEEXRI%FRAEAF  WERZZT—TF+
A+ BEH - REMELEEARR TN Z W
% ARRESAEHR-_Z—ZF A THE
ERAH12EA FEBEI%NTHRE -

EHEFEA1IRERATIRRESABBRE
)& % B R A IR E 5 A AN & 875 % 100,000
T2 REER SR BABESREBERG
VS5 1,624 JT H IR 2 ER s AR A 21D A A A R
AR FREESE0.01 T2 LB -
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25.

Convertible Bonds (Continued)

The Bondholder 1 had served a notice dated 31
December 2010 to the Company that he will not
demand repayment of the principal amount of
the Convertible Bonds A by the Company in the
next twelve months after the end of the reporting
period.

The fair value of the liability component of the
extended Convertible Bonds A is measured
using a market interest of approximately 9.13%
for an equivalent non-convertible bond; the
equity conversion component is revalued at nil
amount. The equity component in the amount
of HK$21,491,000 previously recognised under
convertible bonds reserve in respect of Convertible
Bonds A before extension was written off to
retained earnings upon expiry on 10 October 2010.

The Company also issued convertible bonds
at a nominal value of HK$120,000,000 at zero
coupon interest of which the HK$108,000,000
(the “Tranche 2”) was issued on 29 December
2008 and HK$12,000,000 (the “Tranche 17) was
issued on 4 February 2009 to China International
Mining Holding Company Limited (the “Bondholder
2”), an investment holding company beneficially
owned by Mr. Lam Nam for a term of 5 years (the
“Convertible Bonds B”).

25. TBRES(E)

BEHAEAIER-E—ZF+_A=+—H
AARRRERM  RABEETSNHERR
BARE+—EAARNEBRARBEETRRES
AZEREH °

EEF R ESABRGEROD 2R FETRAR
FIFARREZF 2 TSR 9.13% 15 © #
BABMENDZERERAT - ZARREFA
FEXE HA B IR I SR AR 75 o 1 O AR 2 HE s R 1D
REVEE 21,491,000 tER = —ZF 1+ A
THEIMEEMEERE AR -

7N A \) I8 % E B 7S % 120,000,000 JT A 7 7
EEBERBAEZEREER AR EHREBEESE
TRBEBRATEFFEA2NEITETRER
ZABRBEESF(TATRBKRESB])(HREE
108,000,000 T([E=# R =ZZZN\F+=
A=+ N BT %% 12,000,000 ([ 5 —
HDRA-—ZETHAFE_FMBET)  FHAS
i °
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25.

Convertible Bonds (Continued)

The Bondholder 2 may at any business day falling
on the fifth anniversary from the issue date of the
Convertible Bonds B convert the whole or any part
at an amount in an integral multiple of HK$100,000
of the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds B
into ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.200 per conversion share.

The fair values of the liability component of the
Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 of the Convertible Bonds
B are measured using a market interest rate of
approximately 11.02% and 14.62% respectively for
an equivalent non-convertible bond; the remaining
balance, representing the equity conversion
component, is included in equity under convertible
bonds reserve.

25. WBRES(E)

BEHFRFB A NETARRESBRHAE
FREMEZARIARESBASEEY
100,000 T2 TR EH &5 - RABREBEER
AR B 0.200 TT K R 2 BB #10 &
RAREARGREER R 0.01 T2 HBAL °

F—HRE A BRRESFBRERDZAF
BT HRARZEIEARRESZ TSN ED B4

11.02% [ 14.62% 5T & : #ARE 5 25 5 1R 30
D ThRF AR E S HEE 2 A o
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26. Deferred Taxation

The Group’s major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the
current and prior years are summarized below:

The Group and the Company

26. EEHIE

RAFERBEFERRBZENRLEHAAE

RESBEROT -

KREBRAQT

Convertible

bonds

ARRES

HK$’000

BT T

At 1 January 2009 R-ZZEZNF—HA—H 11,008

Charge to equity for the year NEZHRBRER 806

Credit to income statement for the year RERFTABEE (2,758)
At 31 December 2009 and RZZEZENF+ZA=+—HBRK

1 January 2010 —T—TF—HF—H 9,056

Credit to income statement for the year AEFEFFAMZE (3,310)

At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZTF+=—A=+—H 5,746

No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group and the Company in respect of tax
losses of approximately HK$17,422,000 (2009:
7,491,000) available to offset future profits due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams
against which the asset can be utilised. The
unrecognised deferred tax asset of the Group and
the Company in respect of deductible temporary
differences attributable to unused tax losses as
at 31 December 2010 amounted to approximately
HK$1,639,000 (2009: 1,236,000).

There are no significant deferred tax assets not
recognised at the end of the reporting period.

R REETB RS E B R F R A E T
VAR 8 - B0 4% Bt 1] T 4 8 R AR0% Al 2 B 1S
B 478 # 17,422,000 T( —ZZNF : B
7,491,000 70 ) R AN R @8] R R R B 2 4R A B 7S
MEBRELEREEE - R=T—FTF+=A
=+—H ANEBRAEARR AR EEERE
BRI E RN ERERRAZEERBEENAS
# 1,639,000 ;L(ZZZ N4 : 4% 1,236,000

JT) °

RBEHR BERER ZENELENIA?

o

it

135




136

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHAMBEREREERA A

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

26. Deferred Taxation (Continued) 26.

No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised
in the financial statements of the Group and the
Company as the Group and the Company did not
have material taxable temporary differences as at
31 December 2010 and 2009.

27. Share Capital 27.

EEBE ()

HRAEERARRAR - ZE-—ZFR_ZTH
FTZRA=+T—HUBBERERTEREZR -
A BN AEE R AR R 2 B RRERIRIT

[N

Number of shares Amount
REE

2010
—g-%5

2009 2010
—B-BF

‘000 000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Fig FHR BT BT T
Authorised: VERE
Ordinary shares of BIREEAE
HK$0.01 each (2009: 0.01T(=%F
HK$0.002 each) ZNEF : B
0.0027T) 2 &
AR 4,000,000 10,000,000 40,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETREAR
At the beginning of the year REF] 5,408,000 5,408,000 10,816 10,816
Effect of share consolidation BH&aHZFE | (4,326,400) — — —
Issue of rights shares on MU AN\ BT
8 April HEAZREAD 540,800 — 5,408 —
Issue of rights shares on N+—HAZB%
2 November TR G 811,200 — 8,112 —
At the end of the year NG 2,433,600 5,408,000 24,336 10,816

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the
extraordinary general meeting on 15 March 2010,
every five ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each in the
issued and unissued share capital of the Company
were consolidated into one consolidated ordinary
share of HK$0.01 each in the issued and unissued
share capital of the Company.

BER_ZE—SF=A+HBZBRRFIAS
FRBZERRER  ANARBEITRAET
B AR & A S IR E MBS # 0.002 T2 i
EAHBARREEITRABITRAR —RE
EEEEE 0.01 T2 AT EA
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27.

Share Capital (Continued)

A rights issue was completed on 8 April 2010 and
540,800,000 rights shares were allotted and issued
at a subscription price of HK$0.2 per rights share.
The rights shares rank pari passu in all respects
with the existing shares of the Company.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the
extraordinary general meeting on 12 October 2010,
the authorized share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$20,000,000 to HK$40,000,000
by the creation of 2,000,000,000 new shares of
HK$0.01 each, ranking pari passu with the existing
ordinary shares of the company in all respects.

A rights issue was completed on 2 November 2010
and 811,200,000 rights shares were allotted and
issued at a subscription price of HK$0.1 per rights
share. The rights shares rank pari passu in all
respects with the existing shares of the Company.

27. BRAR(E)

HER_ZT—ZFTFM A NAB EK:
540,800,000 [% 1 A% % 17 12 52 #8 8 & AR AR AR A%
DA 0.2 TR % R EIT - HIRRMHNZHE
HARRNBRAB RN ZE R EHAL

BER-_ZE—ZF+AT_BHZEKRE
MAE AR ERAZR FRER
2,000,000,000 % & i E & & #0.0175 T
ZHBRMD BARAZETERA BB K
20,000,000 7t 1 Il Z= 7 ¥ 40,000,000 7T © #7
BORSTAERARFRAELTRR=ERZH

fi o

HER=ZZF—ZFF+ - AZHEK"
811,200,000 A% it Bz A% 7 12 3R B8 (B & IR (AR AR
MABRE 0 TR R ET - HBRRMHAEHE
EAARARIIRAB RN ZH RSHAL o
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28. Reserves 28. #1E
The Group K&
Convertible
Share Special  Exchange Capital Retained Warrant bonds
premium reserve reserve reserve profits reserve reserve Total
2R B0
RHEE KR EifE ERfik REER BRRRE E5RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETn  EEFr BT B¥Tn BEFn BEFan ERTn EEFA
At 1 January 2009 RZZENE
-A-A 359,974 985 15 - 140,039 4423 62,370 567,806
Total comprehensive ~ AFE2AMGEE
income for the year 8 — - - - (95,157) - - (95,157)
Issue of convertible BT ARERN
bonds for setflement X ffliEE
of balance of WEARER
consideration payable 2R B4
on acquisition
of interests in a
subsidiary - - — - — — 4,890 4,890
Deferred tax liabilities on &7 £k E% ¢
issue of convertible EEfEARE
bonds — - - — - - (806) (806)
Release of reserve upon  f7(F AR
lapse of exercise RERRE
period - — - 4,423 (4.423) - —
At31December 2009 W-FTAE
TZAZT-H 359974 985 15 - 49,305 - 66,454 476,733
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28.

Reserves (Continued) 28. f#E(E)
The Group AEE
Convertible
Share Special  Exchange Capital  Retained Warrant bonds
premium reserve reserve reserve profits reserve reserve Total
2R Bl
BOEE  RERE  EXRG  EARE  REEN  BERE  BHER Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETn  EEFn BT ERTn EEFn BETn BEFn BT
At 1 January 2010 RZF-%4-F-A 359,974 985 15 — 49,305 — 66,454 476,733
Total comprehensive FEE2ANGEE
income for the year — - 42 - (66,110) — - (66,068)
Issue of rights shares iR 175,760 - - - - - — 175760
Issuing expenses relating A EATR 2B {17
to rights issues (3,903) - - — - = = (3,903)
Release of equity THREAEREER
component upon expiy &R
of convertible bonds - — - — 21,491 — (21,491) —
Change in fair value upon ~ ERABRESEL
extension of convertible  ATEEE
bonds — - — 15,392 — - — 15,392
Reversal of deferred tax ~ ERWEREAFALD
liabilities on extension EEHEARE
of convertible bonds - — - — (3,726) — 3,726 —
At 31 December 2010 RZF-FEF 125
=t-H 531,831 985 57 15,392 960 — 48,689 597,914
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28. Reserves (Continued)

28. f#E(E)

The Company ¥ N
Convertible
Share  Accumulated Capital Warrant bonds
premium losses reserve reserve reserve Total
RiaE ZithE Bxifs  ARERRR TERERRG Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
V-l b V-l b V-l b B8R V-l b V-l b
At 1 January 2009 RZTENE-A-A 384,854 (87,922) - 4,423 62,371 413,726
Loss for the year TEEER - (178,496) - - - (178,496)
Issue of convertible bonds for ETRARERN AN
setflement of balance of EHBAFESL
consideration payable on ERRELS
acquisition of interests in a
subsidiary — — - - 4,890 4,890
Deferred tax liabilities on issue of ~ E{TA AR ES ¢ BIER
convertible bonds BEE — — — — (806) (806)
Release of reserve upon lapse of 7 MEREREER
exercise period - 4423 - (4,423) - —
At 31 December 2009 and RZBENFTA
at 1 January 2010 =t-Bk-%-%
£-A-A 384,854 (211,995) - - 66,455 239,314
Loss for the year TEEER - (39,269) — — — (39,269)
Issue of rights shares Btk 175,760 - - - - 175,760
Issuing expenses relating to rights AR ER 2 &175 %
issues (3,903) - - — = (3,903)
Release of equity component RREHEREED
upon expiry of convertible ERBH
bonds - 21,491 - - (21,491) -
Change in fair value upon ERAEREREZ
extension of convertible bonds ~~ ATEEH - - 15,392 - - 15,392
Reversal of deferred tax liabilites ~ ERTAREAEADE
on extension of convertible EHERE
bonds - (3726) - - 3,726 -
At 31 December 2010 e g
=t-A 556,711 (233,499) 15,392 - 48,690 387,294
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28. f#E(E)

28. Reserves (Continued)

(a) Nature and purpose of reserves (a) RFEZIHEERE®N

(i)  Share premium (i) RGZEE
Under the Companies Law (Revised) RERSEHE QA E(EIERT)E
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, 22% » APpmlzBtnmEr AR
the share premium of the Company DIRSRATAIRE TR - AR
is available for paying distributions or BEANTABER @A 2
dividends to shareholders subject to HE  RREREDRIKMKRE
the provisions of its Memorandum or % ARFRIEARNEEEBRR
Articles of Association and provided F%EH 2 B ERERS o
that immediately following the
distribution or dividend, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

(i)  Special reserve (i) #EIEE
The special reserve represents the BRI B I IS AN = B DA 4%
difference between the paid up capital IR R 2 SR R AN B A XE AN
of the previous holding company of RNAIRDRZZEZ_FEB B
the Group acquired and the nominal ARGIMBRARBIER EHHE
value of the Company’s shares issued 1T B B4R ot Y BE = TE M BT
for the acquisition at the time of the ZARNEIROEEZZEE °
group reorganization for the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in
2002.

(iii) Exchange reserve (iii) EZFE

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note

3(1).

ELFEEEMEREHINEE
MIEBMRMELE ZINEEZRR ° [
AR AL 3(1) PrEl 2 S RT R 2
o
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28. f#E(E)

28. Reserves (Continued)

(a) Nature and purpose of reserves (a) REEZIHEERBENE)
(Continued)
(iv) Warrant reserve (iv) REREFERE

The warrant reserve represents the
net proceeds received and receivable
on issue of warrants to subscribe for
the Company’s shares. The warrant
reserve will be transferred to share
premium when the warrant is exercised
or released to the retained profits when
the warrant remains unexercised at the

RERERBRERTRAREEN
REAR A Iz 2 Wk WA
BREFER - BREERBEER
R B R JE 1T (o B R R
BN B RER R Ew B BA
TTER RO = RE A -

expiry date.

(v) Convertible bonds reserve (v) FRREFGEE
The convertible bonds reserve has AMRESFHELERY - WR
been set up and is dealt with in Y BT 5 3(t) BT 5 7t AT HR AR A 25 B 4N
accordance with the accounting policies ZEBETBUR R ©
adopted for convertible bonds in note
3(t).

(vi) Capital reserve (vi) BXEE
Capital reserve represents the change BERFEEEHEEHITRRKRE
in fair value arising from the revaluation BAEAZ N FEEZE) -
of convertible bonds upon extension.

(b) Distributability of reserves (b) FIHDIRFEE

RBEBAR EFRAE AQF A#
DIERTARRBEB AN Z GBEH BB
323,212,0007t(= T T fL F: B ¥
172,860,000 7T) °

At the end of the reporting period, in the
opinion of the directors, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$323,212,000 (2009: HK$172,860,000).
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29.

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 26 June 2002 for the purpose of providing
incentives to the Directors and eligible participants,
under which the Company may grant options to the
Directors and employees of the Group and also
other eligible participants to subscribe for shares
of the Company. The schemes became effective
on 12 July 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in effect for 10 years from
that date.

On 26 June 2002, prior to its listing, the Company
granted options to certain executive Directors
and employees of the Group to subscribe for an
aggregate of 251,000,000 shares in the Company
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The
terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
are the same as the Share Option Scheme as
described below except that:

(i) the eligible participants are confined to
certain Directors, senior management,
employees, consultants and advisers of the
Group:

(ii)  there is no minimum subscription price;

(iiiy the general scheme limit, the individual
limit applicable to each proposed grantee
and the restrictions on grant of options to a
connected person do not apply; and

(iv) the Directors may only grant options under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any
time within a period from 26 June 2002 to 12
July 2002.

29.

BT E

REBMEERAER2EE  ARFANR_ZFF
ZERNAZTANBRAMIAERRET S (TX
BARIERARMEERBIET S R B
HED) Bt ARRAIRAAEEZEEZRE
TREMAERSEER THREAHRER
RERM - ZFAER_TZE_F+ A+ =H4E
M BRRREUESIERTIN - BEZBRETEFA
B e

B ARRIREENX
AH AT AR E
AETHTEETREIRLBERENRES K
251,100,000 E A A B %D © % B R AFEE
AR AR M AT B 2 (&SRR T BB AR AT 2 2 & 3K
R -

ft

() ARERZEEARAEESTEE B
REERE  EE - BAARER

(i) WEKEDEE

(i) —REHERE  ARRSREREAZ
181 R 38 J O B A = 55 4 B PR 2 R
S TER &

(iv)y EBEAR-_ZTZT_FA=-+HB=
—ET-F+ A+ - B HPAEMER -
BRI ERAREERIBRET IR L E
[ -
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29. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The share options granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme had either been exercised
or lapsed by 31 December 2008.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include the following:

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Group
or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
any member of the Group holds any equity
interest (including any executive Director but
excluding any non-executive Director of the
Group or any Invested Entity);

any non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Director) of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise)
or consultant to any area of business or
business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and

29.

BRERE(E)

RZZEZNFTZA=+—HA - REERA
7 3% 5 AT RE BB AT 81 1% 1 2 BB AR M R ETT
HRRK -

BREABZAERSEERBEATAL:

(i) AKEXAKEEMKERRHEEEA
BEZEAER(TRERR ] ZEMR
BRHEREE(THE2BIER) &
BASEREMKEBR 2 EMANTE
Z ETERAREREMKREERZ
ERFFAITES

(i) AEBEHEMREERBZEMFENTE
E(BEBIFNTES)

(iiiy AAREEERKE A RHERMKREE
RME MRS 2 E A ER

(iv) AREHEAREERZEFAES

(v) RAEEHERKREEBIRMFE - F
B HMBM R EMALRER

(viy AEEEAKERARHEMNREER L
ERIAIR - s AN B EMRIBLE A FlSE
AR E B BT 2 EMEFZEMFHE
A

(vii) ANEEEFKE ARHEFKREBEE
ISR ER EREE 2 EMERE (R
RIS A MBS AA - &
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29. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(viii) any company wholly owned by one or more
of the eligible participants referred to in (i) to
(vii) above.

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive
Directors or their associates in excess of 0.1%
of the Company’s share capital or with a value
in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 21 days from the date of the
offer. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of each grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during a period which may
commence on a day after the date of grant of
the share options but shall end at any event not
later than ten years from the date of grant of the
options. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors of the Company, and will be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant, and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares.

Up to 31 December 2010, no options had been
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

29.

BRETE(E)

(viii) B _El (i) 2 (vii) FBATIR I 2 — @3k % (&
BERBEELERA ZERMAT o

BRIEARRARIARR B L4 - BRI BT 21E
TR 2 BB TS R 2 IR D B TS B B
RRARNERE TN 2 30% ° BrRIEARR A
ARR E S - BAMERMERA TAERN—@
FERNMER 2 BIREMY R ZBRHEE TE
FRBARR TR BITRMG Z1%  WETE
ERFABUIERTETRHEEIBHBEALY
B EBBARBIRA0.1% K EBERBBE
5,000,000 7T + RIZEAS AR RIIRERTESE B o

REEREEZZTREZBHBHEFT21 AR
B - RNEMEELE  BNREBARES
¥ 1 T o BB ] R BB NE RIS AT - B R
HARS ] (8 B I IR ) B AR (T — B AR RRLA
M SR N (] NS B B ISR ) B AR AT +4F
TR TEEBRARRESER WEELA
()VARFBRHARE B2 T E - (i) H
SERHABHMNABARISZ A ZFHRME - KA
(i) mEF e E °

HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=1+—H WTEREE
PR MR B B AR o
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30.

31.

Retirement Benefit Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions at HK$1,000 or
5% of the relevant payroll costs, whichever is the
lower, to the scheme. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
People’s Republic of China are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated
by the local government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

Related Party Transactions

(a) Transactions and balances between the
Company and its subsidiaries, which are
related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note.

(b) Remuneration for key management
personnel of the Group, including the
Company’s Directors and certain highest
paid employees, is set out in note 9.

30.

31.

RAKEREE

AEERBRMEAEREERE —HBRHIE
~iaeEtE([aEestal]) - BEEHEZE
EEAEE 2 EEDFRIE - HBZIEAE
HZEERE - RIFBBESFTEZRE - B
REEB AL B A% E#MAE 1,000 7T
SAEBE S K AE5% (ARIEE RfE) 2 5K -
AEER BB AAZE-BEERIREZ
STEIBMPT R AR -

AEERPEARKNBEAMBRARIZES
AR EHBARE 2 BRERRARRENF
KB - ZEWMBRARARFERANZIEE
B R ERNENEBIHER - WERZFR
MRHES - ARBERZRANEFFEAEZ
F—BERBMBEERR -

BELTXS

(@) ARREEMBLR(/ARRBEES)
ZR 5 RAEHRERERA IR B i Nt &
FEARP TR IKEE

(b) AEBEXEZEEAB(EBRARAEER
ETH&SEHMES) 2 BN
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31.

Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(c)

A licence fee income amounted to
approximately HK$120,000 (2009:
HK$120,000) which was included in sundry
income, was charged by the Company for
services rendered to a related company,
in which Mr. Lam Nam, the substantial
shareholder of the Company, has material
interest.

An interest expense amounted to
approximately HK$15,000 (2009: HK$2,000)
was charged by a related company, in which
Mr. Lam Nam, the substantial shareholder of
the Company, has material interest, for the
advances to the Group.

An operating lease rental expense amounted
to HK$Nil (2009: HK$122,000) which
was included in the deferred exploration
expenditure, was charged by a related
company, in which Mr. Lam Nam, the
substantial shareholder of the Company, has
material interest.

During the year, the Group made/received
advances to/from related parties. Details and
balances outstanding as at 31 December
2010 are disclosed in notes 20, 23 and 24.

31.

RELXS(#E)

(c)

AAMEBEWAZETEZRNERE
120,000 7C (= Z N4 : B % 120,000
JL) Ty AR A B LR AN F E AR ES Sk A
(ARREERR)EBEAN TR 2 BE
A RIR A 7 AR i ARER o

FE S4B 15000 (=ZFEF 1
& B ¥2,0007T) JYHMEEE(RA
AETERR)EEEAES ZEEARMR
I 745 52 [ A 3K 1T B

SEARE IR Sx 2 BB TS F OB
T(ZZEZNEF : #¥122,0007T) Y
BAMEEE(ARBEERR)EFEKN
R 2 BRE AR UL o

ER KEERBEEALELWER
e ABER _E—ZTE+_A=1+—
B2 REEEHRKTE20 - 23 %243

.
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32.

—E—FFf /A =F—HIFFE

Operating leases

Minimum lease payments paid by the Group as
lessee under operating leases during the year:

32. REREY

AEBERFARBEEROIN 2 &ERLE

The Group The Company
rEH AT

2010 2010 2009

e A —F—8F _—TTNF

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

EBEFT B F T BEFT BEF T

Premises LS 2,839 1,428 1,078 1,076
At the end of the reporting period, the total LK B EARK

commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancelable operating leases are as
follows:

REREHR - RIBT AT HUEEE
RIRB S 2 BEENT ¢

The Group The Company
rEH N
2010 2010 2009
—ZE—ZF —E-2F Z—EZThF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’°000 HK$°000
BT T B FoT BT T BEFoT
Premises ES
— within 1 year — —FR 2,190 1,428 1,078 1,076
— due after 1 year but — —FgE
within 5 years AEA 649 — —
2,839 1,428 1,078 1,076




Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

33. Commitments
(a) Capital Commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the capital
commitments outstanding contracted for but
not provided for in these financial statements
are as follows:

Contributions to a jointly ~ H&F [

controlled entity = B
(note) (K1)

33. &iE
(a) BAREIE

R|BEHR - 2RIWIERR AU B HE
B2 MARBITERALENT

The Group The Company
AEHE E N

2010 2010 {0[0]¢)

—B-g4F =T —s-2 —TETHE

= =< ==

HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$°000 HK$'000
BYTT  BETT EBMTT BT

140,016 122,166 — =

Note: The amount includes a sum of approximately
HK$8,232,000 (2009: HK$11,141,000),
which the operator of the Oil Project in
Brunei agreed to pay on behalf of the Group
in respect of the Phase 2 capital commitment
according to a farmout agreement.

Mt e WBEEXFEAMIERRREDR
BINB AR BE - PEREER
A& B 32 1 73 8149 78 % 8,232,000 7T

—ZTNF  B%11,141,0007T) °
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk

Management

(a) Financial risk management

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The Group
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34. MBRERREEFRRER

(a) HEEEREE

FEM

(a) HBIREZHHE

HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T

Financial assets BBEE
Trade and other receivables JFE W BR 3K K ELAth e s 3R IE 3,140 1,005
Amounts due from associates AN E R 10,155 7,603
Cash and bank balances e MIRITHEHR 16,646 3,212
29,941 11,820

Financial liabilities BgaE
Trade and other payables JE A1 BR SR R H b FE {5 3R IE 10,135 88,466
Amount due to a Director R EERIA 1 =
Convertible bonds AI AR E 2 344,894 339,205
355,030 427,671
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 34. BRRABRRERRMER(Z)
Management (Continued)
(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBEREER(E)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) BBEIEZAHE(E)
(Continued)
The Company N

HK$°000 HK$’000
B F T JBEF T

Financial assets HHREE
Trade and other receivables JFE UK AR 3% B EL b i U FR IR 654 752
Cash and bank balances e MIRITH R 10,198 70
10,852 822

Financial liabilities B aE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR 5% B HL Atb & 1~ R IR 8,850 20,897
Convertible bonds AR AR E 25 344,894 339,205
353,744 360,102
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk

Management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and

policies

The Group’s major financial
instruments are disclosed in section
(a) of this note. The risks associated
with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk and policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

(i)  Market risk management

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain foreign
currency cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables,
amounts due from associates
and jointly controlled entities,
and trade and other payables
denominated in foreign currencies
other than the respective
functional currencies of the
entities and thus expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.
The management continuously
monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider
hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

34.

MHEBRERRRER(E)

(a)

MBEBRER(E)

(b)

BB m R EERBE

AEBEZETEMBTERNAKRHE

(ERE - FRAZEMBITAZ

2B B 5 T 35 R B (9N L B % )
XEE)  EERRERBESR
b MBEZFRAR 2RV T
XEH - EREEERERZT
Rz AERERETAERZE

B o

() TEEEEE
SN [ B

AEBERAINE(E S
BRATEERIRIN) FIE

HNEEIR & RERTT AR - B
AR I EL A M ROR - R

B N m R KRR 8

TR LA T AN B K R L A e A
PIH - Bt AN B A AR D

KER - BEEREER

KRR THEREREREE

BEPINERR -
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk

Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and

policies (Continued)

(i)  Market risk management

(Continued)

34.

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the
Group’s significant foreign
currency denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

The Group

Renminbi

Macau Pataca
Singaporean dollar
United State dollar
Philippine Peso

AR¥
RPTHE
FTIRTT
ey
JFREEHR

BBERRESRRER(E)

(a) HIBEABERE)

(b) HHEERBEZERKE(E)

(1)

SR EE (&)

SN R ()

RBERR - AEBUAINE
IIEZEREBEERER

B EEENT
AEE
Assets
“E
2010
—g-%%
HK$ HK$
B B
2,341 1,200
28 364
35 127
121 1,707
96 —
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(i)  Market risk management
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

34. MBEBRESRRER(E)

(a) HIBEABERE)

(b) HHEERBEZERKE(E)

() THEEREE(E)

Renminbi AR#E
Macau Pataca SRS
Singaporean dollar N3 T
United State dollar X

HNEE R\ B ()
REB(E)
Liabilities
=L
2010
—E-EF
HK$ HK$
B JB I
1,090 587
169 674
— 27
— 2,440

The Company has no foreign
currency denominated monetary
assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period.

RB|ERR - ARE L E LA
SNEIECEBEERA

& o
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(i)

Market risk management
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed
to the effect of fluctuation in the
above foreign currencies except
for the United States dollars in
which the functional currency is
pegged to. The following table
details the company’s sensitivity
to a 5% increase and decrease in
the functional currency exchange
rates of the Group against
the foreign currencies. 5% is
the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management
personnel and represents
management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes
outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at
the year end for a 5% change in
foreign currency exchange rates.
A positive number below indicates
an increase in loss for the year
where the functional currency of
the Group strengthens 5% against
the foreign currencies. For a
5% weakening of the functional
currency of the Group against the
foreign currencies, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on
the loss, and the balance below
would be negative.

34.

MHEBRERRRER(E)

(a) HBEREEE)
(b) HEEBREEREKZE(E)

(i) TEERERE(E)

SN LR (A8
BURE DM

AEBTE®RY Lo
(BaInge G K 2 Xk
SN Z KRBT E - TR
ARBEARENEEE T
SIS 2 B 3 Tt Bk 5% 2 B Rk
B 5% hAEREEAE
P BB FE ¥R 1N L e By P (62 7R
ZERBEL R EEER
EXRZ AR REB(LATIERT
fl - AREDMBREAINE
¥IEA -
W R F R IR 5% 2 ) [E &
EBHBERE - THRTA
KEZREEHLINETE
5% < AFEEEIE M- RN
AEBDEEREHLINERE
5% - A5 H BB E A ARE
RERZFE - MA T

ez mARRBE
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 34. BRRABRERRMERE(Z)
Management (Continued)
(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBEREER(E)
(b) Financial risk management and (b)) HBEBREERKE(E)

policies (Continued)

(i)  Market risk management () TEEEEE(E)
(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SN RBR (4F)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) HERE DT (&)
The Group rEH

Profit before tax

BRBE Al s A
2010 2009
—ETNEF
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
B B B B
Renminbi AR 57 2 — 28
Singaporean dollar 703 T = 1 — -
Philippine Peso FEREHER 1 = — —
The Company VNN |

Profit before tax

BR B AT R
2010 2009
—B-BF —ZTTNF
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS

Renminbi AR — = = =
Singaporean dollar #7013 7T = = = =
Philippine Peso SEFREHR — — — —
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(i)  Market risk management
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk
is primarily from the convertible
bonds issued at fixed rate
which exposes the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. The
Group currently does not have
an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure
should the need arises.

(ii)  Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2010, the
Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due
to failure to perform an obligation
by the counterparties, is the
carrying amount of the respective
recognized financial assets
as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

34. MBEBRESRRER(E)

(a) HIBEABERE)

(b) HHEERBEZERKE(E)

(1)

(i)

SR EE (&)

5 L

AEBEZHERBRERZRE
REEME BT ZAIRRE
% SAKEEERFER
KEfR o AL E B AT &
TEIPIRK - A - BEE
ERNXER  YEREH
E R E B R ERFXE

@ o
2R

EEmREE

RZE—ZTF+ZA=1+—
H AEBEfEHZ&=E
BEE RS AL 5 REEBIT
BT AR BRI 5 &
1B) BER A B AR R & AT it
HEEERMIEEEZRE
18 o
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(ii)  Credit risk management
(Continued)

In order to minimize the
credit risk in relation to trade
receivables, the management
has strengthened the credit
limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the management
reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at
each reporting date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the management
considers that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is
limited because the majority of
the counterparties are reputable
banks or banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

34.

BBERRESRRER(E)

()

MBEBRER(E)

(b) HHEERBEZERKE(E)

(i)

EERBREE (&)

RREBRRUERZEE
R - BEEEDINREER
H - EEEL R A ERE
B ARERERENBRAETT B A
WEBmBER - g - TR
EBREHmE P ema&
BrEZERzATKEE
7 RS AR E S
FBIEL RAREBE - Bk
ms - BEREERR  A%KH
ZIEERBEAXRK -

MR ZH T AL HEE
2 RITREBRBREERR
KERTREEFRZE
7 BRBDERZEERR
BR -
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(ii)  Credit risk management
(Continued)

Credit risk is concentrated as
to 100% (2009: 100%) of the
total trade receivables due from
the Group’s largest customer.
However, the management
considers, based on the strong
financial background and good
creditability of this debtor, there
are no significant credit risks.

(i) Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity
risk, the management manages
its funds conservatively by
maintaining a comfortable level
of cash and cash equivalents
in order to meet continuous
operational need. Various
bank facilities and credit lines
will be considered to fund any
emergency liquidity requirements.
The Group relies on fund raising
activities from issuance of rights
shares and placing of ordinary
shares as well as shareholder’s
loans as principal sources of
liquidity.

34.

BBERRESRRER(E)

(a)

MBEBRER(E)

(b) HHEERBEZERKE(E)

(i)

(iii)

FERBREE (&)

A JE R BR FX 48 %8 2 100%
(ZZEZNF :100%) B A
SBSEAREFM&R s
BRRRET - A - EEE
RE ERZBEBAZE
BRUBEERRTEE =
BERBITEK -

REE LR ETE

REERDESRRE - &
EEABEREHKFEZR
ehBRLEEY  RTERE
HES  NENBELES
2 AEEREEZRRTT
REREERE  UAEM
ESnRPDESHTERHEE
T - AEBEEREETHEK
MREEERRZEERD
MEBRERESRBESZ
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk

Management (Continued)

34. MBEBRESRRER(F)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HIEEREE(E)
(b) Financial risk management and (b)) HBEBREERKE(E)
policies (Continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk management (i) wEEZEREE(E)
(Continued)
The following tables detail the TRFRAEE R AR ARG
Group’s and the Company’s HUBBECHTE LR
remaining contractual maturity BA - HERMBEEZR
for its financial liabilities, which HIRREREARAER K
are based on the undiscounted PAYNCICIE =B S el =)
cash flows of financial liabilities HmME - TREHFEMNERFE
and the earliest date on which ZRERE °
the Group and the Company can
be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal
cash flows.
The Group AEH
On demand or Total  Total carrying
less than More than  un-discounted amount at
1 year 1 year cash flows 3111212010
R=%-%F
BERE AERRE  TZA=t-H
HR-E SR-F HELE ZEEARE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT Vit Vi BT
2010 “T-ZF
Trade and other payables TR REMENFUE 10,135 - 10,135 10,135
Amount due to a Director ENESHE 1 - 1 1
Convertible bonds RRES - 396,352 396,352 344,894
10,136 396,352 406,488 355,030
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk management

34. MBEBRESRRER(E)

()

MBEBRER(E)

(b) HHEERBEZERKE(E)

(i) TEEEEGEEE(E)

(Continued)
The Group AREE
On demand or Total  Total carrying
less than More than  un-discounted amount at
1 year 1 year cash flows 31/12/2009
RIZENE
RERY FBERE  t-A=1-A
PR SR—F nELE LEASE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BETT
2009 ZIENE
Trade and other payables B REERE 88,480 — 88,480 88,466
Convertible bonds hkES - 396,352 396,352 339,205
88,480 396,352 484,832 427,671
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a)

(b) Financial risk management and

34. MBEBRESRRER(F)

MBEBRER(E)

(b) HHEERBEZERKE(E)

policies (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk management (i) wEEZEREE(E)
(Continued)
The Company ARATE]
On demand or Total  Total carrying
less than More than  un-discounted amount at
1 year 1 year cash flows 31/12/2010
R=2-2F
RERY, ARREE  TZA=t-A
SR-F IN-F MELE ZEEAE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Vi Vol hs EETT Vil an
2010 “2-Tf
Trade and other payables FERTB R R E e 208 8,850 - 8,850 8,850
Convertible bonds nakESR - 396,352 396,352 344,894
8,850 396,352 405,202 353,744
On demand or Total  Total carrying
less than More than ~ un-discounted amount at
1 year 1 year cash flows 31/12/2009
RZZBRNE
BERH AMEAS TZA=T-H
a3 S5 itk pd i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000
Vot FETT BETT EEFT
2009 “ZENEF
Trade and other payables BT R RE(EMFE 20,897 = 20,897 20,897
Convertible bonds nakESR — 396,352 396,352 339,205
20,897 396,352 417,249 360,102
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(b)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry,
the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the net debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is calculated as total
liabilities (including current and non-current
liabilities as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents. Total equity represents
the equity as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

34.

BBERRESRRER(E)

(b)

EXREBER

AEEEREAZ BNRREAEE R
BREZEN  URBRRREHRERNES
Hip M SRR E R I - W RE
BARZRBARBEE RRA

REFIHBEARE  AKEA AR
ENTRRZESSHE REBEATHR
R BITHBROBIHEEENRDELR o

HEXANEMEE—H  ARERFEH
RS RERER - LXUFEBE
gzt E - FEBARaE(RER
BUBARKRARZRE ZIERBDEE)
BEERREFEMAE - BRERELR
B BARRNRA R
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 34. BRRABRERRMERE(Z)

Management (Continued)
(b) Capital risk management (Continued) (b)

During 2010, the Group’s strategy, which
was unchanged from 2009, was to maintain
the net debt-to-equity ratio at an acceptable
level. The net debt-to-equity ratios at 31
December 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

EXRABERE)

R-Z-FTFRN AEEZRE(E-F
FNFREEFTE) B FEBHESL
RERFNARTEKE - RZF-—FFR
“ETAFET A=+ —HZFEERY
RESLLRAOT ¢

HK$°000 HK$°000

BT T B FoT

Total debts Fekvis 360,776 436,727
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 0 RekReEEY

(Note 22) (Hizx22) (16,646) (8,212)

Net debt FERS 344,130 433,515

Total equity B 622,337 488,113

Net debt-to-equity ratio FEFE R 55% 89%
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34. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(c)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined as follows:

The fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities with standard terms
and conditions and traded in active
markets are determined with reference
to quoted market bid and ask prices
respectively; and

The fair values of other financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined
in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

Except as detailed in the following table, the
Directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values:

Financial liabilities BEAaE
Convertible bonds AR E S

34. MBEBRESRRER(E)

()

MBTAZAVE

TREERERABBZAFEZATE
AEE -

. BB B RR R R AL AR B 5
BECUBEERYBEZIRF
BNORN2EMSMRcEAE
REHEMEE &

s HMMBEEMRMBABZAF
BNRE-REKZEBRAR
BRHARSREDNMNETE -

BRTRAFLESIN  EERBR/NEER
BRERERCMBEERMBREZR
E{EEEAFERE

2010 2009
—g-%f —ETNF

Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount Fair value
AREE AF{E FRmEE NSEIE]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EBEFT EBEFT EETT BT T
344,894 375,445 339,205 367,190
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Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

35. Particulars of Subsidiaries

35. MIER RS

RZZE—ZF+-A=+—8  KAFZHE

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31

December 2010 are as follows: NRFEET -
Issued and
fully paid  Proportion of nominal value of
share capital/ issued capital/registered capital
registered held by the Company
Place of capital* AATREZEBEGRE/
incorporation/ Forms of BRIk &R EEL A
Name of subsidiary operation legal entity HRBRA/ Directly Indirectly ~ Principal activities
WEAEAR e 2 EERREA AfEA: R BE IEEH
Kanstar Environmental Technology British Virgin Islands International Business US$1,000 100% —  Investment holding
Group Limited RERIES Company 1,000%7 RERR
Win Easy International Limited British Virgin Islands International Business USS$1 100% —  Investment holding
RERgES Company 157 RERR
BREHAA
Polyard Petroleum Resources British Virgin Islands [nternational Business US$1 100% —  Investment holding
Development Inc. EERIEE Company 1% RERR
)N
Mexford Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands International Business  US$50,000 — 100%  Investment holding
BRRIHE Company 50,000% REZR
eI
Kanstar Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 — 100%  Investment holding
REZAERLE &8 Company %%1,000,000 7 RELR
BRAERA
Addata Development Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$10,000 - 100%  Inactive
MAZEERAR &k Company 510,000 fnex
EREFRA
Modern Lucky International Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability HKS2 - 100%  Investment holding
HERERERAR &b Company BEoT RARR
EREREAR
Polyard Petroleum (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited Liability HKS1 = 100%  Investment holding
BRRA(ES)BRAR &b Company AEAT RERR

BRREAT
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Bt 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE _F—FTFL_A=1—HIFE

35. Particulars of Subsidiaries (Continued) 35. WEBLARFHEE)
Issued and

fully paid  Proportion of nominal value of
share capital/ issued capital/registered capital

registered held by the Company
Place of capital* AATREZCRARE/
incorporation/ Forms of BEAR AMEAREEELH
Name of subsidiary operation legal entity HERE/ Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
WEARAR AL/ g EERR ifEA: E# B FEEH
Xian Polyard Petrochemical Limited PRC Limited liability RMB1,000,000 — 51%  Trading of petroleum-
ERERRELIERAR HE Company ARE related products
ERELAR 1,000,0007C BEEREBER
Polyard Petroleum International Macau Limited Liability MOP40,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited B Company 40,000,000 RARR
BEAHERERAR EREFAT 2R
China Sino Qil Co., Ltd Macau Limited Liability MOP10,000,000 - 100%  Investment in oil and
REFERRERAE ol Company 10,000,000 gas projects
BREFAR M RERREE
Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration  Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$100,000 = 60.1%  Provision of
& Development Research Bk Company %%100,00070 consultancy
Institute Limited BREFAR services for oil and
R ARRRERAERER AR AR gas exploration and
development
REHFHRIER
Bk
Sinotech Polyard (Beijing) Resource PRC Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 - 60.1%  Provision of
Science and Technology Limited i Company 7%%1,000,0007T consultancy
HREAGLR) ERNEERAT EREAAF senvices for of and
gas exploration and
development
REARBRRER
BRRH
Polyard International Mining Company ~ Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
Limited &k Company 71,000,000 70 RARR
BRERERERAT ERELAT
Polyard Petroleum Philippines Company  Philippines Limited Liability PHP10,000,000 — 100%  Mineral and energy
Limited, Inc. FEE Company 10,000,000 %% related business
ERELAT BYRERERER
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt RER - BENB AR BITEMESES o

securities at the end of the year.
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Five Year Financial Summary

A FMBEHE

The summarised consolidated results, assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years,

AEERNBERAVRFEZGERE BEEME
BZHMEBERBEAEEZ BERGAMBEHRR)H

as extracted from the audited consolidated financial AT
statements of the Group, are set out below:
Results E

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLEE

2008 2009
z —EZNF TNE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
JBEMF T JBEF T BEF T JBEEFor BT
Turnover EER 43,295 50,378 21,640 3,916
Profit/(loss) FEAEE R,
attributable to (Es518)
— Owners of the — KRR A]
Company 72PN (18,428) 473,961 473,961 (95,157)
— Non-controlling — FEPEHIME
interests I — (846) (846) (67)
(18,428) 473,115 473,115 (95,224)
Assets and Liabilities EEREE

At 31 December
R+t=—A=+—H

2008

TENF

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000

BT BT BT BT T BT
Total assets mEE 288,088 3,224,574 952,783 924,840
Total liabilities BafE (34,857)  (356,970)  (373,570)  (436,727)
Net assets FEE 253,231 2,867,604 579,213 488,113




POLYARD PETROLEUM INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED

a WG od B R E A RS

Room 2602, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

EBTHEDR20055EEROBERE RE2602ZE

www.ppig.com.hk



	封面 
	香港聯合交易所有限公司（「聯交所」）創業板（「創業板」）之特色

	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	企業管治報告
	董事及高級管理人員簡介
	董事報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合收益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	封底


